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In CHF’000 Notes 2013
restated 

20121

Revenues 6  842 322  844 051 
Other operating income 7  15 503  16 286 
Total revenues and other operating income  857 825  860 337 

Cost of material  -227 474  -244 450 
Employee benefits expense  -369 354  -368 746 
Other operating expenses 8  -149 273  -147 720 

Operating income before depreciation, amortization and impairment  111 724  99 421 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment 9  -51 511  -63 797 

Operating income  60 213  35 624 

Interest expense 10  -8 438  -16 998 
Other finance income/(expense), net 11  144  2 079 
Share of results of associates 18  1 681  1 208 

Income before tax  53 600  21 913 

Income tax expense 12  -10 242  -6 831 

Net income for the year  43 358  15 082 

Attributable to:
- Equity holders of the company  42 150  15 234 
- Non controlling interests  1 208  -152 

 43 358  15 082 

Earnings per share (in CHF)
- bearer share: basic and diluted (in CHF) 14  0.7821  0.2828 
- registered share (not listed): basic and diluted (in CHF) 14  0.0782  0.0283 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012) 

In CHF’000 2013
restated 

20121

Net income  43 358  15 082 
Other comprehensive income to be eventually reclassified into the consolidated income statement in 
subsequent periods:
Currency translation differences  -3 855  -7 096 
Cash flow hedges, net of income tax  358  -66 
Net (loss)/gain on available-for-sale financial assets, net of income tax  -1 137  98 

 -4 634  -7 064 
Other comprehensive income never to be reclassified into the consolidated income statement in 
subsequent periods:
Remeasurements on post employment benefit obligations, net of income tax  3 762  -4 408 

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax  3 762  -4 408 

Total comprehensive income  42 486  3 610 
Attributable to:
- Equity holders of the company  41 558  4 281 
- Non controlling interests  928  -671 

 42 486  3 610 
1) Restated to reflect the adoption of IAS 19 Revised on Employee benefits (see note 40).	�  
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS 
(FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(AT DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012) 

In CHF’000
 

Notes
 

31.12.2013
restated 

31.12.20121

restated 
01.01.20121

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets 15  147 487  154 758  166 355 
Intangible assets 16  169 250  188 167  214 713 
Investment property 17  1 459  1 571 –
Investments in associates 18  4 768  4 398  3 996 
Deferred income tax assets 19  56 118  61 859  60 646 
Financial assets and other non-current assets 20  60 198  74 145  88 549 

Total non-current assets  439 280  484 898  534 259 

Current assets
Inventories 21  64 383  68 647  63 102 
Trade accounts receivable 22  197 233  196 397  228 219 
Other current assets 23  49 959  56 958  68 465 
Financial assets (short term) 24 –  7 –
Cash and cash equivalents 25  100 273  110 086  289 591 

Total current assets  411 848  432 095  649 377 

Total assets  851 128  916 993  1 183 636 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity 
Share capital 26  537 882  536 122  533 798 
Reserves  -96 999  -126 842  -127 119 
Treasury shares 27 –  -290  -326 
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  440 883  408 990  406 353 

Non controlling interests 28  5 618  9 425  16 905 

Total equity  446 501  418 415  423 258 

Non-current liabilities
Long-term financial debt 29  123 444  194 679  129 953 
Deferred income tax liabilities 19  491  4 348  5 508 
Employee benefits liabilities 32  61 281  60 233  50 498 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 33  288  504  2 298 
Other long-term liabilities and derivative financial instruments 34  2 288  1 852  2 280 

Total non-current liabilities  187 792  261 616  190 537 

Current liabilities
Short-term financial debt 35  59 257  74 083  383 376 
Trade accounts payable 36  37 729  40 073  54 196 
Other current liabilities 37  98 034  94 663  93 820 
Current income taxes  2 137  1 904  2 067 
Advances received from clients 38  13 620  14 362  16 497 
Derivative financial instruments 39 – –  2 540 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges 33  6 058  11 877  17 345 

Total current liabilities  216 835  236 962  569 841 

Total liabilities  404 627  498 578  760 378 

Total equity and liabilities  851 128  916 993  1 183 636 
1) Restated to reflect the adoption of IAS 19 Revised on Employee benefits (see note 40).	�
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS 
(FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012) 

In CHF’000 Notes 2013
restated 

20121

Net income for the year  43 358  15 082 

Adjustments for net income non-cash items:
- Current and deferred income tax  10 242  6 831 
- Interest expense and other finance income/(expense), net  8 194  11 122 
- Allocation of the equity conversion component and transaction costs of convertible bond and borrowings  262  5 028 
- Depreciation, amortization and impairment 9  51 511  63 797 
- Share of result of associates 18  -1 681  -1 208 
- Non-cash employee benefits expense  5 401  3 657 
- Deferred cost allocated to income statement  10 406  21 142 
- Additional provisions net of unused amounts reversed  -979  7 277 
- Non-cash government grant income  -6 479  -4 098 
- Other non cash income/expenses  2 647  -99 
Adjustments for items for which cash effects are investing or financing cash flows:
- Gain on sales of subsidiaries 7 –  -860 
- Other non operating cash items  622  112 
Adjustements for change in working capital:
- Change in inventories  2 313  -7 544 
- Change in trade accounts receivable  -3 271  28 920 
- Change in trade accounts payable  -2 364  -11 567 
- Change in deferred costs and other net current working capital headings  6 724  -9 140 
Dividends received from associated companies 18  1 230  832 
Interest paid  -6 409  -13 272 
Interest received  1 247  2 143 
Income tax paid  -2 054  -7 660 

Cash flow from operating activities  120 920  110 495 

Purchases of intangible fixed assets  -9 854  -11 654 
Purchases of tangible fixed assets  -20 342  -26 581 
Proceeds from sales of tangible and intangible fixed assets  510  703 
Investment in financial assets and loans granted  -730  -47 
Divestment of financial fixed assets and loan reimbursement  2 768  2 564 
Disposal of subsidiaries, cash inflow –  7 356 

Cash flow used in investing activities  -27 648  -27 659 

Reimbursement of convertible bond –  -350 000 
Reimbursement of bank overdrafts, long term loans and other non-current liabilities  -86 659  -11 680 
Increase in bank overdrafts, long term loans and other non-current liabilities  1  112 449 
Proceeds from employee share purchase program 44  57  143 
Proceeds from non controlling interest –  244 
Acquisition of non controlling interests  -246 –
Sale of treasury shares  119 –
Dividends paid to non controlling interests  -4 655  -7 054 
Dividends paid to shareholders 43  -10 757  -5 359 

Cash flow from/(used in) financing activities  -102 140  -261 257 

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  -945  -1 084 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  -9 813  -179 505 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 25  110 086  289 591 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 25  100 273  110 086 

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  -9 813  -179 505 
1) Restated to reflect the adoption of IAS 19 Revised on Employee benefits (see note 40).	�
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012)

In CHF’000 Notes
 Share  
capital 

 Share 
premium 

 Retained 
earnings 

 Fair value 
and other 
reserves 

 Currency 
translation 
adjustment 

 Treasury 
shares 

 Non 
controlling 

interests 
 Total 

equity 

January 1, 2012 published  533 798  59 036  -134 661  30 115  -67 715  -326  16 905  437 152 

Restatement due to revised IAS 19 on 
employee benefits1  -13 893  -13 893 
January 1, 2012 (restated)1  533 798  59 036  -148 554  30 115  -67 715  -326  16 905  423 259 
Net income  15 234  -152  15 082 
Other comprehensive income  -4 408  64  -6 610  -518  -11 472 
Total comprehensive income – –  10 826  64  -6 610 –  -670  3 610 
Employee share purchase program 44  338  -137  201 
Shares issued for employees  1 986  -1 160  826 
Dividends 43  -5 359  -5 359 
Dividends to non controlling interests  -7 054  -7 054 
Transfer equity component of convertible 
bond  33 470  -33 470 –
Reversal of put option on acquisition of 
non controlling interests  2 672  2 672 
Transactions with non controlling 
interests  244  244 
Shares granted to employees 27  -36  36 
Shares allocated over the vesting period 44  17  17 

December 31, 2012 (restated)1  536 122  52 380  -104 277  -619  -74 325  -290  9 425  418 415 

Net income  42 150  1 208  43 358 
Other comprehensive income  3 762  -958  -3 395  -281  -872 
Total comprehensive income – –  45 912  -958  -3 395 –  927  42 486 
Employee share  
purchase program 44  79  -17  62 
Shares issued for employees  1 681  -537  1 144 
Dividends 43  -8 068  -2 689  -10 757 
Dividends to non controlling interests  -4 655  -4 655 
Sale of treasury shares  -134  253  119 
Transactions with non controlling 
interests  -240  -79  -319 
Shares granted to employees 27  -37  37 –
Shares allocated over the vesting period 44  5  5 

December 31, 2013  537 882  43 758  -61 460  -1 577  -77 720 –  5 618  446 501 
1) Restated to reflect the adoption of IAS 19 Revised on Employee benefits (see note 40).
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Following the redemption of the convertible bond in 2012, kCHF 33 470 have been transferred from fair value reserves to 
retained earnings. After the expiration of the put option on non-controlling interests in 2012, kCHF 2 672 have been released 
to Fair value and other reserves. Fair value and other reserves as of December 31, 2013 include kCHF -1 209 (2012: kCHF 
-72)  of  unrealized loss on available-for-sale financial assets and  an unrealized loss of kCHF -368 (2012: kCHF -547) relating 
to cash flow hedges.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

(A) Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements 
of the Kudelski Group (“Group” or 
“company”) have been prepared in ac-
cordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The preparation of the financial state-
ments in conformity with IFRS requires 
the use of certain critical accounting es-
timates. It also requires management to 
exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the accounting policies.  The 
areas involving a higher degree of judge-
ment or complexity, or areas where as-
sumptions and estimates are significant 
to the consolidated financial statements 
are disclosed in note 2.
 
These consolidated financial state-
ments were prepared under the histori-
cal cost convention, except for items to 
be measured at fair value as explained 
in the accounting policies below. The 
policies set out below are consistently 
applied to all the years presented.  

(B) Group accounting
(a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (includ-
ing structured entities) over which the 
Group has control. The Group controls 
an entity when the Group has power 
over an entity, is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its in-
volvement with the entity and has the 
ability to affect these returns through 
its power over the entity. Subsidiar-
ies are fully consolidated from the date 
on which control is transferred to the 
Group.

Inter-company transactions, balances, 
income and expenses on transac-
tions between Group companies are 
eliminated. Profits and losses resulting 
from inter-company transaction that 
are recognised in assets are also elimi-

nated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the as-
set transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group.

(b) Business combinations
The Group applies the acquisition 
method to account for business com-
binations. The consideration trans-
ferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 
consists of the fair values of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the 
former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interest issued by the Group. Ac-
quisition-related costs are expensed as 
incurred. The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or li-
ability resulting from a contingent con-
sideration. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair value at 
the acquisition date, irrespective of the 
extent of any non-controlling interests. 
Identified assets acquired include fair 
value adjustments on tangible fixed as-
sets and intangible fixed assets. When 
determining the purchase price alloca-
tion, the Group considers mainly devel-
opment technologies, customer lists, 
trademarks and brands as intangibles. 
Any contingent consideration depend-
ing on the future financial performance 
of the acquired company (“earn out 
clause”) is recognized at fair value at 
acquisition date using management’s 
best estimate of the final consideration 
payable. The portion of the contingent 
consideration deferred to a date more 
than twelve month after the balance 
sheet date is discounted to its present 
value and disclosed within other long 
term liabilities. The Group recognizes 
non-controlling interest as its propor-
tionate share of the recognized amounts 
of identifiable net assets. Goodwill is ini-

tially measured as the excess of the ag-
gregate of the consideration transferred 
and the fair value of non-controlling 
interest over the net identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed.

Transactions with non-controlling in-
terests are accounted for as transac-
tions with equity owners of the Group. 
The difference between fair value of 
any consideration paid and the relevant 
share acquired of the carrying value of 
net assets of the subsidiary is recorded 
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals 
to non-controlling interests are also re-
corded in equity.

(c) Disposal of subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control 
of a subsidiary, any retained interest in 
the entity is re-measured to its fair value 
at the date when control is lost, with the 
change in carrying amount recognized 
in the income statement. In addition, 
any amounts previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income in respect 
of that entity are accounted for as if the 
Group had directly disposed of the re-
lated assets or liabilities. This may mean 
that amounts previously recognized in 
other comprehensive income are re-
classified to profit or loss.

(d) Associates
Associates are entities over which the 
Group has significant influence but 
which are not subsidiaries. Significant 
influence is the power to participate in 
the financial and operating policy deci-
sions of the associate but not to control 
those policies. It is presumed to exist 
when the Group holds at least 20% of 
the associate’s voting power. Invest-
ments in associates are accounted for 
using the equity method of accounting 
and are initially recognized at cost. 
Unrealized gains on transactions be-
tween the Group and its associates are 
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eliminated to the extent of the Group’s 
interest in the associates. Unrealized 
losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an im-
pairment of the asset transferred.

Accounting policies of associates have 
been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

(C) Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements 
of the Group are expressed in Swiss 
francs (“CHF”), which is the presenta-
tion currency.

The local currency is generally used as 
the functional currency throughout the 
world. In the respective entity financial 
statements, monetary assets and lia-
bilities denominated in currencies other 
than the functional currency are trans-
lated at the rate prevailing at the balance 
sheet date. Transactions contracted in a 
currency other than the functional cur-
rency are recorded using the exchange 
rate at the time of the transaction. All 
resulting foreign exchange transaction 
gains and losses are recognized in the 
subsidiary’s income statement.

Income, expense and cash flows of the 
consolidated companies have been 
translated into Swiss francs using av-
erage exchange rates. The balance 
sheets are translated using the year-
end exchange rates. Translation differ-
ences arising from movements in the 
exchange rates used to translate equity, 
long-term internal financing deemed as 
net investment in a foreign operation 
and net income are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. The loss of 
control or total disposal of a subsidiary 
triggers the recycling of the translation 
difference to the income statement.

(D) Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable for 
the sale of goods and services in the or-
dinary course of the Group’s activities. 
Revenue is shown net of value added 
tax, returns, rebates, discounts, com-
missions directly attributed to the sale 
and after eliminating sales within the 
Group. The Group recognizes revenue 
when the amount of revenue can be reli-
ably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefit will flow to the entity 
and when specific criteria have been 
met for each of the Group’s activities as 
described below. 
The amount of revenue is not consid-
ered to be reliably measurable until all 
contingencies relating to the sale have 
been resolved. The Group bases its es-
timate on historical results taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the 
type of transaction and the specifics of 
each arrangement.

(a) Sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognized when de-
livery to the customer has occurred, the 
significant risks and rewards have been 
transferred to the buyer and collection 
of the related receivables is reasonably 
assured. Sale of goods may include de-
livery of complete systems comprising 
hardware, software, specific develop-
ments, an initial batch of smartcards, 
licenses and other services. When the 
revenue of a sale of goods is subject to 
a performance obligation other than a 
warranty, the revenue is only recognized 
for the estimated acquired portion.

(b) Services rendered
Revenue for services rendered includes 
various types of services such as sys-
tem integration, specific developments 
and customization, maintenance, train-
ing, as well as revenues from complete 
security solutions generating recurring 

service revenues.

Revenue from system integration, spe-
cific developments and customization 
is recognized under the percentage of 
completion method. The stage of com-
pletion is measured by reference to the 
contract costs incurred and the effective 
hours worked up to the balance sheet 
date as a percentage of total estimated 
costs and total estimated hours worked 
for each contract. Revenue from main-
tenance and training is recognized 
when earned (maintenance revenue is 
allocated over the contractual period).

(c) Royalties and licenses
Royalty income is recognized when  
earned. If the relevant license agreement 
contains certain performance obliga-
tions, the revenue is considered earned 
when the obligation has been fulfilled. 
Revenue on licenses with a fixed term is 
recognized over the life of the contract 
on a straight line basis.
For software license arrangements, the 
Group recognizes new software license 
revenue when: (1) The company has en-
tered into a legally binding arrangement; 
(2) delivery has occurred; (3) customer 
payment is deemed fixed or determi-
nable and free of significant contingen-
cies or uncertainties; and (4) collection 
is probable.

(d) Multiple element 
 arrangements – service mode
The revenue for complete security  
solution arrangements that may com-
prise hardware, software, specific  
developments, licenses, smartcards, 
maintenance and other services ac-
cording to the specific arrangements is 
recognized when contractually earned, 
and is usually dependent on the client’s 
number of subscribers or number of 
smartcards delivered or made avail-
able. The Group considers certain sales 
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of smartcards with extended payment 
terms under this category. When the 
fair value of a particular element cannot  
be determined, the revenue is fully allo-
cated to the undelivered element. 
When the title of the delivered assets is 
not transferred, these assets made avail-
able to clients are initially recognized on 
the balance sheet at cost under tangible 
fixed assets. Cost in connection with the 
depreciation of the assets made avail-
able to clients is recognized over the 
shorter of the duration of the contract 
and the useful lives of those assets. It is 
shown under depreciation in the income 
statement.  When the title is transferred, 
the cost is deferred under deferred costs 
and is allocated to the cost of material on 
a straight line basis over the shorter of 
the duration of the contract or the useful 
lives of those assets. 

In both cases the capitalised amounts 
are subject to periodic impairment re-
views. Other costs (such as mainte-
nance, services and security efforts) re-
lating to those contracts are recognized 
when incurred. When it is probable that 
total contract costs will exceed total 
contract revenue, the estimated loss is 
recognized immediately.

(e) Payment to customers
Payments made by the Group to cus-
tomers to enter into new or to renew 
certain existing customer relationships 
are initially recorded under deferred 
costs and are subsequently released to 
the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the contract, as 
reduction in revenue. They are subject 
to periodic impairment reviews.

(f) Government grants
Government grants are recognized 
when the conditions for their receipt 
have been met and there is reason-
able assurance that the grant will be 

received. They are recognized in the 
income statement as operating income 
unless they are linked to a capitalized 
fixed asset, in which case they are de-
ducted from the amount of the fixed 
asset.

(g) Interest income
Interest income is recognized according 
to the effective interest rate method.

(E) Derivative financial instruments 
Derivative financial instruments, includ-
ing foreign exchange forward contracts, 
options and interest rate swaps, are 
initially recognized in the balance sheet 
and subsequently re-measured at their 
fair value. The method of recognizing 
the resulting gain or loss is dependent 
on whether the derivative is designated 
to hedge a specific risk and therefore 
qualifies for hedge accounting.

The Group designates certain deriva-
tives which qualify as hedges for ac-
counting purposes as either a hedge 
of the fair value of recognized assets or 
liabilities or an unrecognized firm com-
mitment (fair value hedge) or as a hedge 
of a forecasted transaction (cash flow 
hedge). The Group documents at the 
inception of the transaction the relation-
ship between hedging instruments and 
hedged items, as well as its risk man-
agement objective and strategy for un-
dertaking various hedge transactions. 
This process includes linking all deriva-
tives designated as hedges to specific 
assets, liabilities or cash flows. The 
Group also documents its assessment, 
both at the hedge inception and on 
an ongoing basis, of whether the deri
vatives that are used in hedging trans-
actions are highly effective in offsetting 
changes in fair value of hedged items.

(a) Derivatives that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting
Certain derivatives transactions, while 
providing effective economic hedging 
under the Group’s risk management 
policy, do not qualify for hedge account-
ing under the specific rules of IAS 39. 
Changes in the fair value of any deriva-
tive instruments that do not qualify for 
hedge accounting under IAS 39 are 
recognized immediately in the income 
statement as part of other finance in-
come/(expense), net.

(b) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as fair 
value hedges and that are highly effec-
tive are recorded in the income state-
ment, along with any changes in the fair 
value of the hedged asset or liability that 
is attributable to the hedged risk.

(c) Cash flow hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify as cash 
flow hedges and that are highly effec-
tive are recognized in comprehensive 
income. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognized imme-
diately in the income statement within 
‘other finance income/(expense), net’. 
Where the forecasted transaction re-
sults in the recognition of an asset or li-
ability, the gains and losses previously 
included in comprehensive income are 
included in the initial measurement of 
the asset or liability. Otherwise, amounts 
recorded in comprehensive income are 
transferred to the income statement and 
classified as revenue or expense in the 
same period in which the forecasted 
transaction affects the income statement.
The currency instruments that may 
be used include forward foreign 
exchange contracts, currency swaps 
as well as zero cost option strategies 
with terms generally not exceeding six 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013
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months, while interest rates instruments 
that may be used include interest rate 
swap and collars strategies with ma-
turities not exceeding the underlying 
contract maturity. The derivative finan-
cial instruments are entered into with 
high credit quality financial institutions, 
consistently following specific approval, 
limit and monitoring procedures.

(F) Taxes
Taxes reported in the consolidated in-
come statements include current and 
deferred taxes on profit, as well as non 
reimbursable withholding taxes and tax 
adjustments relating to prior years. In-
come tax is recognized in the income 
statement, except to the extent that it 
relates to items directly taken either to 
equity or to other comprehensive in-
come, in which case it is recognized ei-
ther in equity or in other comprehensive 
income. Taxes on income are accrued in 
the same periods as the revenues and 
expenses to which they relate.

Deferred taxation is the tax attributable 
to the temporary differences that appear 
when taxation authorities recognize  
and measure assets and liabilities with 
rules that differ from those of the con-
solidated accounts. Deferred taxes are 
determined using the comprehensive li-
ability method and are calculated on the 
temporary differences at the substan-
tially enacted rates of tax expected to 
prevail when the temporary differences 
reverse, except for those temporary dif-
ferences related to investments in sub-
sidiaries where the timing of their rever-
sal can be controlled and it is probable 
that the difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 
Temporary differences and tax losses 
carried forward that could be offset 
against future profits, generating de-
ferred tax assets and liabilities, are 
combined within one legal entity to de-

termine the net deferred tax asset or li-
ability amount. Net deferred tax assets 
are recognized only to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable income 
will be available against the temporary 
differences or that tax losses carried for-
ward can be utilized.
Deferred income tax liabilities have not 
been recognized for withholding tax and 
other taxes that would be payable on 
the unremitted earnings of certain sub-
sidiaries. Such amounts are either per-
manently reinvested or do not generate 
any taxation due to the application of tax 
treaties or tax reliefs.

(G) Tangible fixed assets
(a) General
Property, plant and equipment are meas-
ured at cost, less subsequent depre-
ciation and impairment, except for land, 
which is shown at cost less impairment. 
Cost includes any expenditure that is di-
rectly attributable to the acquisition of the 
items. Subsequent costs are included 
in the asset’s carrying amount or recog-
nized as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future eco-
nomic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the 
item can be measured reliably. All other 
repair and maintenance expenditures are 
charged to the income statement during 
the financial period in which they are in-
curred.

Building acquisitions or construction 
and building improvements are allocat-
ed to components. The costs less re-
sidual values are depreciated over their 
useful life on a straight-line basis. Such 
useful life may be between 4 to 50 years. 
Depreciation starts when the underlying 
assets are ready for use.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-
line basis over the useful life, according 
to the following schedule: 

Technical equipment and machinery

Useful life in years

Machinery and measurement 
instruments 4 - 7
Digital material and equipment 4 - 5
Computer and information networks 4
Fixed assets made available to clients 4 - 10

Other equipment

Useful life in years

Office furniture and equipment 5 - 7
Vehicles 4 - 5

The assets’ residual values and useful 
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if ap-
propriate, at each balance sheet date. 
An asset’s carrying amount is impaired 
immediately if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated re-
coverable amount. Gains and losses on 
disposal or retirement of tangible fixed 
assets are determined by comparing 
the proceeds received with the carrying 
amounts and are included in the con-
solidated income statements.

(b) Leased tangible fixed assets
Assets acquired under long-term  
finance leases are capitalized and 
depreciated in accordance with the 
Group’s policy on property, plant and 
equipment. The financial commitments 
resulting therefrom are reported as other 
current and long-term liabilities. Rent-
als payable under operating leases are 
charged to the income statement as 
incurred.
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(c) Fixed assets made available to clients
The Group makes equipment as well as 
smart cards available to clients within 
the scope of complete security solu-
tions. The assets given to these clients 
remain the property of the Group and 
are initially recognized at cost and dis-
closed in the balance sheet under tech-
nical equipment and machinery. These 
assets are depreciated over the shorter 
of the duration of the contract and the 
economic life of the individual compo-
nents, and the related expense is dis-
closed under depreciation.

(d) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or pro-
duction of qualifying assets, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substan-
tial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as 
the assets are substantially ready for 
their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recog-
nised in profit or loss in the period in 
which they are incurred.

(H) Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of 
subsidiaries and represents the excess 
of the consideration transferred over 
the Group’s interest in net fair value of 
the net identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the acquiree 
and the fair value of the non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree at the date of 
acquisition. It is denominated in the lo-
cal currency of the related acquisition. 
Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries 
is included in intangible assets, while 
goodwill on acquisition of associates is 
included in investments in associates. 
All Goodwill is considered to have an 
indefinite life, and is tested at least an-

nually for impairment and carried at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. 
Goodwill is allocated to cash generat-
ing units for the purpose of impairment 
testing.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an 
entity include the carrying amount of 
Goodwill relating to the entity sold.

(b) Internal research and development
Internal research and development  
expenses are ful ly charged to 
the income statement when in-
curred. The Group considers that 
economic uncertainties inherent  
in the development of new products 
preclude it from capitalizing such costs.

(c) External research and development
Expenditures for research and develop-
ment, application software and technol-
ogy contracts with external parties are 
charged to the income statement as 
incurred if they do not qualify for capi-
talization. When capitalized, they are 
amortized over 4 to 10 years once de-
velopment is achieved and saleable.

(d) Computer software
Acquired computer software licenses 
are capitalized on the basis of the costs 
incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software. These costs are am-
ortized using the straight-line method 
over their estimated useful lives (three to 
four years). Costs associated with main-
taining computer software programs are 
recognized as an expense as incurred. 

(e) Other intangibles in connection with 
business combinations
Under IFRS 3, in process research 
and development, core development 
technologies, customer lists and trade-
marks are valued as part of the process 
of allocating the purchase price in a new 
business combination. The respective 

values are recorded separately from 
Goodwill and are allocated to cash-gen-
erating units. Acquired intangibles are 
amortized on a straight-line basis over 
the following periods with the expense 
recorded in the income statement:

Over the useful life, in years

Core development technologies 5 - 10
Customer lists 10
Trademarks and brands 5

(I) Investment property
Investment property is property held to 
earn rental income or for capital appre-
ciation rather than for internal use. If part 
of a building is leased, it is accounted 
separately under investment property 
only if the portion of building could be 
sold separately and if the portion held 
for internal use is insignificant. Transfers 
are made to or from investment prop-
erty only when there is a change in use. 
If owner-occupied property becomes 
an investment property, the Group ac-
counts for such property in accordance 
with the policy stated under property, 
plant and equipment up to the date of 
change in use – cost being equal to car-
rying value. 

Investment property is carried at histori-
cal cost less provisions for depreciation 
and impairment. Similar accounting 
treatment and subsequent measure-
ment methodology is applied to invest-
ment property and building  acquisitions 
or construction and building improve-
ments (note G).

(J) Financial assets 
The Group classifies its financial instru-
ments in the following categories: finan-
cial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables and available-for-sale finan-
cial assets. The classification depends 
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on the purpose for which the financial 
instruments were acquired or granted. 
Management determines the classifica-
tion of its financial instruments at initial 
recognition and re-assesses this desig-
nation at each reporting date.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: 
financial assets held for trading, and 
those designated at fair value through 
profit or loss at inception. A financial 
asset is classified in this category if ac-
quired principally for the purpose of sell-
ing in the short term or if so designated 
by management. Derivatives are also 
categorized as held for trading unless 
they are designated as hedges. Assets 
in this category are classified as current 
assets if they are either held for trading 
or are expected to be realized within 12 
months of the balance sheet date.

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are stated at fair value, with 
any gains or losses arising on remeas-
urement recognized in profit or loss. The 
net gain or loss recognized in profit or 
loss also incorporates any dividend or 
interest earned on the financial asset.

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-deriva-
tive financial assets with fixed or deter-
minable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. They arise when 
the Group provides money, goods 
or services directly to a debtor with 
no intention of trading the receivable.  
They are included in current assets, 
except for maturities greater than  
12 months after the balance sheet  
date, which are classified as long-term 
assets.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are 

non-derivatives that are either desig-
nated as available-for-sale or are not 
classified in another category.
Listed redeemable notes held by the 
Group that are traded in an active mar-
ket are classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets and stated at fair value 
at the end of each reporting period. The 
Group also has investment in unlisted 
shares that are not traded in an active 
market but that are also classified as 
available-for-sale financial assets and 
stated at fair value at the end of each 
reporting period because management 
consider that fair value can be reliably 
measured. Fair value is determined in 
the manner described in note 49. Inter-
est income, dividends and exchange 
differences arising on monetary availa-
ble-for-sale is recognized in the income 
statement while all other changes in the 
carrying amount of available-for-sale 
financial assets are recognized in com-
prehensive income and accumulated 
under the heading of ‘Fair value and 
other reserves’. When the investment 
is disposed of or is determined to be 
impaired, the cumulative gain or loss 
previously accumulated in ‘Fair value 
and other reserves’ is reclassified to the 
income statement.

Available-for-sale equity investments 
that do not have a quoted market price 
in an active market and whose fair value 
cannot be reliably measured are meas-
ured at cost less any identified impair-
ment losses at the end of each reporting 
date.

(K) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of 
cost and net realizable value. Cost is 
determined using the weighted average 
cost method.

The cost of work in progress and manu-
factured finished goods comprises di-

rect production costs and an appropri-
ate proportion of production overhead 
and factory depreciation. Net realizable 
value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less 
applicable variable selling expenses. 
Inventories which are no longer part of 
production and sales plans are directly 
written off from the value of inventories. 

(L) Deferred costs
Deferred costs are measured at cost 
and are allocated to the income state-
ment over the shorter of their useful life 
and the contract period. The portion 
of deferred cost to be expensed in the 
income statement in a period exceed-
ing 12 months is disclosed under other 
non-current assets.

(M) Trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable are  initially 
measured at fair value and subse-
quently valued using the amortized cost 
method. A provision for impairment is 
made for doubtful receivables based 
on a review of all material outstanding 
amounts at each reporting date.

(N) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash 
in hand and highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months 
or less. This position is readily convert-
ible to known amounts of cash. Bank 
overdrafts are shown within short-term 
financial debt in current liabilities on the 
balance sheet.

(O) Marketable securities
Marketable securities consist of equity 
and debt securities which are traded in 
liquid markets. All purchases and sales 
of marketable securities are recognized 
on the trade date, which is the date on 
which the Group commits to purchase 
or sell the asset. 
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(P) Share capital 
Ordinary and preferred shares of 
Kudelski SA are classified as equity and 
are presented at their nominal value. 
The difference between proceeds of 
share capital less directly attributable 
incremental costs and the nominal value 
of the share capital increase are consid-
ered as share premium and are included 
in equity.

Where any group company purchases 
the company’s equity share capital 
(treasury shares), the consideration 
paid, including any directly attributable 
incremental costs (net of income taxes) 
is deducted from equity attributable to 
the company’s equity holders until the 
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where 
such shares are subsequently reissued, 
any consideration received, net of any 
directly attributable incremental trans-
action costs and the related income tax 
effects, is included in equity attributable 
to the company’s equity holders.

(Q) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognized at fair 
value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently carried at 
amortized cost; any difference between 
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognized 
in the income statement over the period 
of the borrowings using the effective in-
terest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan 
facilities are recognized as transaction 
costs of the loan to the extent that all of 
the facility will be drawn down. To the 
extent that there is no evidence that all of 
the facility will be drawn down, the fee is 
capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity 
services and amortized over the period 
of the loan facility.

(R) Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the 
Group has a present legal or construc-
tive obligation as a result of past events; 
it is more likely than not that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount can be 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognized for future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar ob-
ligations, the likelihood that an outflow 
will be required in settlement is deter-
mined by considering the class of obli-
gations as a whole. A provision is recog-
nized even if the likelihood of an outflow 
with respect to any one item included 
in the same class of obligations may be 
small.
A restructuring provision is recognized 
when the Group has developed a de-
tailed formal plan for the restructuring 
and has raised a valid expectation in 
those affected that it will carry out the re-
structuring by starting to implement the 
plan or announcing its main features to 
those affected by it. Restructuring pro-
visions comprise employee termination 
payments, lease termination penalties 
and dilapidation costs.

(S) Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations
The Group operates a number of defined 
benefits and defined contribution plans, 
the assets of which are generally held in 
separate trustee-administered funds. 
The pension plans are generally funded 
by payments from employees and by the 
relevant Group companies, taking into 
consideration the recommendations of 
independent qualified actuaries. For de-
fined benefit plans, the Group compa-
nies provide for benefits payable to their 
employees on retirement by charging 
current service costs to income.
The liability in respect of defined benefit 
pension plans is the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation at the bal-

ance sheet date minus the fair value of 
plan assets, together with adjustments 
for actuarial gains/losses and past ser-
vice costs. Defined benefit obligations 
are in all material cases calculated an-
nually by independent actuaries using 
the projected unit credit method, which 
reflects services rendered by employees 
to the date of valuation, incorporates 
assumptions concerning employees’ 
projected salaries and uses interest 
rates of highly liquid corporate bonds 
which have terms to maturity approxi-
mating the terms of the related liability. 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes 
in actuarial assumptions are charged or 
credited to equity in other comprehen-
sive income in the period in which they 
arise. 
The Group’s contributions to the defined 
contribution plans are charged to the 
income statement in the year to which 
they relate.

(b) Other long-term employee benefits
Other long-term employee benefits 
represent amounts due to employees 
under deferred compensation arrange-
ments mandated by certain jurisdictions 
in which the Group conducts its opera-
tions. Benefits cost is recognized on  
an accrual basis in the employee ben-
efits expense. 

(c) Employee Share Purchase 
Program (ESPP)
The Group’s employee share purchase 
program allows certain employees to 
buy a specific number of shares at pre-
ferred condition, subject to a restriction 
to sell for a period of 3 years.
The difference between the fair value of 
these shares and the employees’ pay-
ments for the shares is expensed in the 
income statement at subscription date. 
The fair value of the shares transferred is 
determined based on the market price 
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of the shares including an adjustment to 
reflect the value of the restriction to sell.
 
(d) Profit sharing and bonus plan
The Group recognizes a liability and an 
expense for bonuses and profit sharing 
where contractually obliged or where 
there is a past practice that has created 
a constructive obligation. In addition,  
the Board of Directors may grant shares 
to certain employees. These shares may 
be subject to a blocking period of up to 
7 years and are expensed in the income 
statement at their fair value at grant date 
taking into account the estimated value 
reduction due to the blocking period.

(e) Other employee benefits
Salaries, wages, social contributions  
and other benefits are recognized on  
an accrual basis in the employee bene-
fits expense in the year in which the em-
ployees render the associated services.

(T) Trade accounts payable
Trade payables are recognized initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective in-
terest method.

(U) Dividends
Dividends are recorded in the Group’s 
financial statements in the period in 
which they are approved by the Group’s 
shareholders.

(V) New and amended accounting  
standards and IFRIC interpretations 
Standards and Interpretations effective in 
the current period
The accounting policies adopted are 
consistent with those followed in the 
preparation of the Group’s annual fi-
nancial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2012, except for the 
adoption of new standards and inter-
pretations as of January 1, 2013 de-
scribed below.

In the current financial year, the Group 
has retrospectively adopted IAS 19 
(revised 2011). The revised standard 
introduces changes to the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclo-
sure of post-employment benefits. Note 
40 describes the financial effects of the 
adoption of the revised standard and 
change in accounting policy.

The following amendments to IFRS 
standards had only limited impact on 
the accounting policies, financial posi-
tion or performance of the Group:
- IAS 1 (amendment) - ‘Presentation of 
Items of Other Comprehensive Income’ 
requires items of other comprehensive 
income to be grouped by those items 
that will be reclassified subsequently to 
income statement and those that will 
never be reclassified, together with their 
associated income tax. It has been ap-
plied retrospectively and only impacted 
the disclosure of other comprehensive 
income;
- IFRS 7 and IAS 32 (amendment) – Off-
setting financial assets and liabilities and 
disclosures;
- IFRS 10 - ‘Consolidated financial 
statements’ defines subsidiaries as 
all entities (including structured enti-
ties) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity when the 
Group has power over an entity, is ex-
posed to, or has rights to, variable re-
turns from its involvement with the entity 
and has the ability to affect these returns 
through its power over the entity. Sub-
sidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases. 
- IFRS 11 - ‘Joint arrangements’ implies 
that investments in joint arrangements 
are classified either as joint operations 
or joint ventures, depending on the con-
tractual rights and obligations each in-
vestor has rather than the legal structure 

of the joint arrangement. Joint ventures 
are required to be accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting only.
- IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in 
other entities;
- IFRS 13 - ‘Fair value measurement’ 
defines fair value, establishes a frame-
work for measuring fair value, and re-
quires disclosures about fair value 
measurement. The related amendment 
to IAS 36 - ‘Impairment of Assets’ on the 
disclosure of the recoverable amount 
for non-financial assets has been early 
adopted, in accordance with the transi-
tional provisions.

The Group has not early adopted 
any other standard, interpretation or 
amendment that has been issued but is 
not yet effective.

Standard and Interpretations in issue  
not yet adopted
Certain new standards, amendments 
and interpretations to existing standards 
have been published that are manda-
tory for the Group’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2013 or 
later periods, but which the Group has 
not early adopted:
- IAS 19 – ‘Defined Benefit Plans: Em-
ployee Contributions’ (amendment) 
– (effective from 1 July 2014). This 
amendment to IAS 19R (2011) issued 
in November 2013 clarifies the require-
ments that relate to how contributions 
from employees or third parties that are 
linked to service should be attributed to 
periods of service. The implementation 
of such amendment will have a material 
impact by reducing empoyee benefit li-
abilities and increasing total equity net 
of income tax of approximately CHF 20 
million and CHF 16 million respectively. 
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The adoption of the following amend-
ments will only have a limited impact on 
the financial statements or disclosures:
- IFRS 9 - ‘Financial instruments’ com-
prises two measurement categories for 
financial assets and liabilities: amortized 
cost and fair value.
- IFRIC 21 - ‘Levies’ - (effective from 1 
January 2014).
- Annual IFRS improvement projects 

2. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGMENTS

The Group’s principal accounting poli-
cies are set out in note 1 of the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements and 
conform to International Financial Re-
porting Standards (IFRS). 

Significant judgments and estimates are 
used in the preparation of the consoli-
dated financial statements which, to the 
extent that actual outcomes and results 
may differ from these assumptions and 
estimates, could significantly affect the 
accounting in the areas described in this 
section.

Complete security solutions generating 
recurring service revenues
As defined in note 1 D, the Group pro-
vides complete security solutions gen-
erating recurring service revenues. 
Depending on the contract terms with 
each client, the Group may replace the 
assets made available or transferred to 
the client for security or economic rea-
sons. Early replacement due to techni-
cal obsolescence would affect the prof-
itability of the Group by resulting in an 
impairment of the assets made available 
to the client or of the deferred costs. 

Furthermore, those contracts may also 
include payments made to customers 
which are subject to impairment re-
views.  In case of impairment of these 
assets ,the profitability of the Group 

could be affected through a reduction 
of the deferred costs and revenues.

Litigation and product liability provisions
A number of Group subsidiaries can be 
subject to litigation and product liability 
claims arising out of the normal conduct 
of their businesses. As a result, claims 
could be made against them that might 
not be covered by existing provisions 
or by external insurance coverage.  
Management believes that the out-
comes of such actions, if any, would 
not be material to the Group’s financial 
condition but could be material to future 
results of operations in a given period.

Income tax, deferred tax assets and gov-
ernment grants
The Group is subject to income tax in 
numerous jurisdictions. Significant judg-
ment is required in determining the por-
tion of tax losses carried forward which 
can be offset against future taxable prof-
it (note 19). In order to assess whether 
there is any future benefit, forecasts are 
made of the future taxable profits by le-
gal entity. Actual outcomes could vary 
significantly from forecasts of future 
profits and could therefore modify sig-
nificantly the deferred tax asset and the 
income taxes captions. Furthermore, 
subsequent changes in tax laws, such 
as non-exhaustive changes in tax rates, 
the proportion of tax losses that could 
be offset with future profits or changes 
in forfeiting periods, occurring after the 
accounts have been approved might af-
fect the tax asset capitalized.
A tax audit may also lead to significant 
adjustments, due to a rejection of key 
components of a tax return or a govern-
ment grant (e.g. related to transfer pric-
ing).

Retirement benefit plans
The Group sponsors pension and other 
retirement plans in various forms cov-
ering employees who meet eligibility 

requirements. Several statistical and 
other factors that attempt to anticipate 
future events are used in calculating the 
expense and liability related to the plans. 
These factors include assumptions 
about the discount rate and rate of future 
compensation increases, as determined 
by Group management within certain 
guidelines. In addition, the Group’s ac-
tuarial consultants use statistical infor-
mation such as withdrawal and mortal-
ity rates for their estimates. Assumptions 
used (note 32) may differ materially from 
actual results due to changing market 
and economic conditions, higher or low-
er withdrawal rates or longer or shorter 
life spans of participants, among other 
factors. Depending on events, such dif-
ferences could have a material effect on 
our total equity.

Impairment of Goodwill
Determining whether Goodwill is im-
paired requires an estimation of the val-
ue in use of the cash-generating units 
to which Goodwill has been allocated. 
The value in use calculation requires 
management to estimate the future 
cash flows expected to arise from the 
cash-generating unit and a suitable dis-
count rate in order to calculate present 
value. Actual cash flows and values 
could vary significantly from the fore-
casted cash flows and related values 
derived using discounting techniques.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s Corporate Treasury func-
tion provides services to the business, 
co-ordinates access to domestic and 
international financial markets, monitors 
and manages the financial risks relating 
to the operations of the Group through 
exposure analyses. These risks include 
market risk (including currency risk, fair 
value interest rate risk, cash flow interest 
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and 
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liquidity risk.
The Group seeks to minimize the ef-
fects of these risks by using derivative 
financial instruments to hedge these 
risk exposures. The use of financial 
derivatives is governed by the Group’s 
treasury policies, which provide writ-
ten principles on foreign exchange risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of 
financial derivatives and non-derivative 
financial instruments, and the invest-
ment of excess liquidity. Internal control 
procedures ensure the compliance with 
these policies. The Group does not en-
ter into or trade financial instruments,  
including derivative financial instru-
ments, for speculative purposes. The 
Corporate Treasury function reports 
periodically to the Group’s finance ex-
ecutive committee that monitors risks 
and policies implemented to mitigate 
risk exposures.

Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primar-
ily to the financial risks of changes in 
foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. The Group applies natu-
ral economic hedging strategy and can 
enter into a variety of derivative finan-
cial instruments to manage its expo-
sure to foreign currencies and interest 
rate risks, including forward foreign 
exchange contracts or option strate-
gies to hedge the exchange rate risks
�and interest rate swaps to mitigate the 
risk of rising interest rates.
The Group does not enter into any fi-
nancial transactions containing a risk 
that cannot be quantified at the time the 
transaction is concluded; i.e. it does not 
sell assets short. The Group only sells 
existing assets or hedges transactions 
and future transactions that are likely to 
happen in the future. Future transaction 
hedges are contracted according to 
treasury policy based on a foreign ex-
change cash flow forecast. In the case of 
liquid funds, it writes options on assets it 

has, or on positions it wants to acquire, 
and for which it has the required liquidity. 
The Group therefore expects that any 
loss in value for these instruments would 
be generally offset by increases in the 
value of the hedged transactions.

(a) Foreign exchange risk
The Group conducts business in a vari-
ety of countries using a variety of foreign 
currencies. However, the Group pre-
pares its consolidated financial state-
ment in Swiss francs. It is therefore ex-
posed to foreign exchange risk arising 
from various currency exposures, pri-
marily with respect to the US Dollar and 
the Euro. Foreign exchange risk arises 
from future commercial transactions, 
recognized assets and liabilities and 
net investments in foreign operations.  
In order to manage foreign exchange 
risks arising from future commercial 
transactions and certain assets and 
liabilities, the Group uses forward for-
eign exchange contracts and foreign 
currency zero cost option contracts to 
hedge certain anticipated foreign cur-
rency revenues. 
It is the policy of the Group to cover 
specific foreign currency receipts within 
a fix determined portion of the expo-
sure generated, leaving to the Finance 
Executive Committee the decision to 
cover the remaining portion based on 
its views on the market. The Group also 
enters into forward foreign exchange 
contracts to manage the risk associ-
ated with anticipated sales transactions 
out to 12 months within a determined 
portion of the exposure generated, as 
defined in the treasury policy. 
Net investments in Kudelski affiliates 
with a functional currency other than the 
Swiss Franc are of a long-term nature: 
the Group does not hedge such foreign 
currency translation exposures.

(b) Interest rates
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk 

as entities in the Group borrow funds at 
both fixed and floating interest rates. The 
risk is managed by the Group by main-
taining an appropriate mix between 
fixed and floating rate borrowings and 
by the use of interest rate swap con-
tracts. Hedging activities are evaluated 
regularly to align with interest rate views 
and defined risk appetite; ensuring op-
timal hedging strategies are applied, by 
either neutralizing the balance sheet ex-
posures or protecting interest expense 
through different interest rate cycles. 

Other price risks 
The Group is exposed to equity price 
risks arising from equity investments. 
Equity investments are held for strategic 
rather than trading purposes. The Group 
does not actively trade these invest-
ments.

Credit risk management 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a coun-
terparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Group. The Group uses credit rat-
ing information supplied by independ-
ent rating agencies where available 
and, if not available, the Group uses 
other publicly available financial infor-
mations and its own trading records to 
rate its major customers. The Group’s 
exposure and the credit ratings of its 
counterparties are continuously moni-
tored and the aggregate value of trans-
actions concluded is spread amongst 
approved counterparties. Credit expo-
sure is controlled by counterparty limits 
that are reviewed and approved by the 
department in charge annually.
The Group does not have any significant 
credit risk exposure to any single coun-
terparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. 
The Group defines counterparties as 
having similar characteristics if they 
are related entities. Concentration of 
credit risk did not exceed 10% of gross  
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monetary assets at the end of the year, 
with the exception of cash balances de-
posited within a highly rated bank. The 
credit risk on liquid funds and derivative 
financial instruments is limited because 
the counterparties are banks with high 
credit-ratings assigned by international 
credit-rating agencies.
The maximum amount of credit risk is 
the carrying amount of the financial as-
sets.

Liquidity risk management 
The Group has built an appropriate li-
quidity risk management framework for 
the management of the Group’s short, 
medium and long-term funding and li-
quidity management requirements. 
The Group manages liquidity risk by 
maintaining adequate reserves, banking 
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, 
by continuously monitoring forecasts 
and actual cash flows and matching the 
maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities.

4. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

No business combination arose in 2013 
and 2012.

Transaction with non controlling interests
On July 1, 2013, the Group purchased 
an additional 28% of Skidata South Af-
rika (pty) Ltd, for a total consideration 
of  KCHF 246 bringing its total stake to 
72%.
This transaction was treated as trans-
action with non controlling interest and 
was allocated to retained earnings for 
kCHF 240 and non controlling interests 
for kCHF 79.

5. DIVESTMENTS

No divestment arose in 2013. On De-
cember 13, 2012 the Group disposed 
of its 100% stake of the company Abilis 
Systems Sàrl. The gain on sale on this 
operation is kCHF 860.
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6. OPERATING SEGMENTS

IFRS 8 requires operating segments to 
be identified based on internal report-
ing that is regularly reviewed by the chief 
operating decision maker. 
Group operating segments represent 
strategic business units that offer dif-
ferent products and services for which 
internal reporting is provided to the chief 
operating decision maker. The chief op-
erating decision maker reviews internal 
reports in order to allocate resources to 
the segment and to assess its perfor-
mance.
The Group is organized operationally on 
a worldwide basis in 2 operating seg-
ments:
- Integrated Digital Television
- Public Access
These operating segments, which are 
reflected in internal management re-
porting, can be described as follows: 

The Integrated Digital Television division 
provides end-to-end integrated solu-
tions including open conditional access 
solutions allowing digital TV operators 
and content providers to operate a 
wide range of high value-added pay TV 
services on a secure platform and mid-
dleware software solutions for Set-top-
Boxes and other consumer devices, 
enabling an advanced user experience. 
Advanced advertising solutions are part 
of Integrated Digital Television. 
The Public Access division provides ac-
cess control systems and ticketing ser-
vices for ski lifts, car parks, stadiums, 
concert halls and major events.
Income and expenses relating to Cor-
porate include the costs of Group Head-
quarters and the items of income and 
expense which are not directly attributa-
ble to specific divisions. These elements 

are reported under the “Corporate com-
mon functions”.
The measure of income statement 
presented to manage segment per-
formance is the segment operating 
income. Segment operating income is 
based on the same accounting policies 
as consolidated operating income ex-
cept that inter-segment sales are elimi-
nated at the consolidation level.
Reportable segment assets include 
total assets allocated by segment with 
the exclusion of intersegment balances 
which are eliminated. Unallocated as-
sets include assets that are managed 
on a central basis. These are part of the 
reconciliation to Balance sheet assets.

Integrated Digital 
Television Public Access Total

In CHF’000 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013
restated 

2012

Total segment Revenues  615 324  645 248  230 578  202 721  845 902  847 969 
Inter-segment revenues  -3 545  -3 909  -35  -9  -3 580  -3 918 

Revenues from external customers  611 779  641 339  230 543  202 712  842 322  844 051 

Depreciation and amortisation  -38 817  -49 900  -7 414  -8 107  -46 231  -58 007 
Impairment  -4 978  -3 297  -302  -2 493  -5 280  -5 790 

Operating income - excluding corporate common 
functions  62 760  43 298  13 674  9 526  76 434  52 824 

Corporate common functions  -16 221  -17 200 
Interest expense and other Finance income/(expense), net  -8 294  -14 919 
Share of result of associates  1 681  1 208 

Income before tax  53 600  21 913 

31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012
Total segment Assets  698 042  745 550  141 198  139 873  839 240  885 423 

In CHF’000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Total Segment Assets  839 240  885 423 
Cash & Cash equivalents  7 590  25 190 
Other current assets  1 034  1 857 
Financial assets and other non-current assets  3 264  4 523 

Total Assets as per Balance Sheet  851 128  916 993 
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GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION
The company’s country of domicile is Switzerland. The Group’s revenue from external customers and information about its 
non-current assets by countries are presented below:

Revenues from external 
customers Non-current assets

In CHF’000 2013 2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Switzerland 36 297 36 665 155 168 163 832
United States of America 142 218 125 294 112 862 142 459
France 84 318 82 809 23 896 22 751
Brazil 68 005 96 309 280 216
Germany 55 296 66 468 4 556 4 549
Netherlands 47 456 43 582 334 252
Italy 36 865 46 446 459 682
Rest of the world 371 867 346 479 53 678 51 525

 842 322  844 051  351 233  386 266 

Non-current assets exclude financial instruments, deferred tax assets and employment benefit assets.
Revenues are allocated to countries on the basis of the client’s location.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS
No revenues from transactions with a single external customer reach 10 per cent of the Group’s revenue.

REVENUE CATEGORIES

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Sale of goods  433 594  417 026 
Services rendered  284 080  285 334 
Royalties and licenses  124 648  141 691 

 842 322  844 051 

7. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Government grants (research, development and training)  10 670  11 037 
Indemnity received on surrender of lease and reversal of dilapidation costs  1 452  1 766 
Income from rental of property  1 315  1 066 
Gain/(Loss) on fixed assets sales proceeds  -19  -112 
Gain on sale of subsidiares –  860 
Others  2 085  1 669 

 15 503  16 286 
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8. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Development and engineering expenses  26 519  26 021 
Travel, entertainment and lodging expenses  27 711  25 968 
Legal, experts and consultancy expenses  22 585  19 824 
Administration expenses  22 949  25 690 
Building and infrastructure expenses  25 891  27 356 
Marketing and sales expenses  9 031  11 071 
Taxes other than income tax  4 452  5 318 
Insurance, vehicles and others  10 135  6 472 

 149 273  147 720 

9. DEPRECIATION, AMORTIZATION AND IMPAIRMENT 

In CHF'000 Note 2013 2012

Land and buildings 15  5 133  6 374 
Equipment and machines 15  21 216  26 250 
Investment property 17  137  152 

Total depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets  26 486  32 776 

Intangible assets 16  25 025  31 021 

Total amortization and impairment on intangible fixed assets  25 025  31 021 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment  51 511  63 797 

10. INTEREST EXPENSE

In CHF'000 Note
 

2013
restated 

2012

Interest expense:
- Convertible bond 2005-2012 –  9 119 
- Bond 2011-2016  3 561  3 553 
- Other and bank charges  4 877  4 326 

 8 438  16 998 

The convertible bond was repaid in 2012. In 2012, its interest comprised base interest of 1.625% amounting to kCHF 4 345 
and allocations of the equity component and transaction costs for kCHF 4 150 and kCHF 624 respectively.

11. OTHER FINANCE INCOME/(EXPENSE), NET

In CHF'000 Note 2013 2012

Interest income  1 409  2 145 
Net gains/(losses) on foreign exchange related derivative financial  
instruments not qualifying for hedge accounting  -7  392 
Loss on sale of marketable securities (available for sale)  -405 –
Net foreign exchange transaction gains/(losses) 13  -347  343 
Others  -506  -801 

 144  2 079 
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Loss on available-for-sale financial assets amounting to kCHF -405 (2012: kCHF 0) include kCHF 291 recycled from fair value 
reserves.  Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets were recognized directly in comprehensive income for kCHF 
-1 209 (2012: kCHF 98). Change in fair value of held for trading financial assets amounting to kCHF -7 (2012: kCHF 392) are 
disclosed under Net foreign exchange transaction gains/(losses) on foreign derivative financial instruments not qualifying for 
hedge accounting.

12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In CHF'000 Note
 

2013
restated 

2012

Current income tax  -7 692  -6 542 
Deferred income tax 19  -905  1 191 
Other taxes  -1 645  -1 480 

 -10 242  -6 831 

Other taxes include non reimbursable withholding taxes.

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax 
rate applicable to profits of the consolidated companies as follows:

In CHF'000 2013
restated 

2012

Income before taxes  53 600  21 913 

Expected tax calculated at domestic tax rates in the respective countries  -10 735  -7 978 
Effect of income not subject to income tax or taxed at reduced rates  9 781  1 556 
Effect of utilization of previously unrecognized tax asset on tax losses carried forward and temporary differences  2 180  4 036 
Effect of temporary differences and tax losses not recognized and deferred tax assets written-off  -12 119  -4 045 
Efffect of associates' result reported net of tax  357  116 
Effect of disallowed expenditures  -247  -698 
Effect of prior year income taxes  316  274 
Effect of non-refundable withholding tax  -1 644  -1 480 
Other  1 869  1 388 

Tax expense  -10 242  -6 831 

Income before tax includes the full income before tax of non-fully owned subsidiaries whose taxes are paid by its shareholders 
since they are tax-transparent companies. As a result 100% of the income before tax of these companies is included in income 
before tax while the Group only recognizes its ownership percentage tax portion. The theoretical tax impact if the Group had 
recognized 100% of the taxes on these subsidiaries amounts to kCHF 2 274 (2012: kCHF 1 386 ) and is disclosed under Other 
in the above table.

The weighted average applicable tax rate is decresing from 36.40% in 2012  to 20.02% in 2013. The decrease can be explained 
by a decrease of tax rate in our main tax juridication and a more advantageous revenue split between countries. 
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13. NET FOREIGN EXCHANGE RESULT

The exchange differences accounted for in the income statement are as follows:

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Sales  -1 646  -4 427 
Cost of material  -150  1 559 
Other finance income/(expense) net  -347  343 

Total exchange differences  -2 143  -2 525 

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE (EPS)

Basic and diluted earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to shareholders by the weighted average num-
ber of shares outstanding during the year. The number of outstanding shares is calculated by deducting the average number 
of shares purchased and held as treasury shares from the total of all issued shares. 

In CHF'000 2013
restated 

2012

Net income attributable to bearer shareholders  38 529  13 925 
Net income attributable to registered shareholders  3 621  1 309 

Total net income attributable to equity holders  42 150  15 234 

Weighted average number of bearer shares outstanding *  49 263 601  49 237 290 
Weighted average number of registered shares outstanding  46 300 000  46 300 000 

Basic earnings per share (in CHF)
Bearer shares  0.7821  0.2828 
Registered shares  0.0782  0.0283 

* In early 2014 and 2013, the company performed a share capital increase which changed the average number of shares without any corresponding change in 

the level of resources. For the purposes of the earnings per share calculation, the weighted average number of bearer shares has been retrospectively adjusted 

to reflect this increase as if the capital increase had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented.

The diluted earnings per share calculation takes into account all potential dilutions to the earnings per share arising from the 
convertible bonds and options on Kudelski SA shares. In 2013 and 2012, options were anti-dilutive, therefore diluted earn-
ings per share equals basic earnings per share. Shares equivalent of  145 (2012: 1 566) for options were excluded from the 
calculation of diluted earnings per share as they were anti-dilutive.
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15. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Land and buildings  103 830  107 832 
Equipment and machines  43 657  46 926 

 147 487  154 758 

LAND AND BUILDINGS

In CHF'000 Land Buildings
Building  

improvements Total

GROSS VALUES AT COST
As of January 1, 2012  23 018  112 977  13 487  149 482 
Additions  52  10 357  1 532  11 941 
Disposals and retirements – –  -1 952  -1 952 
Change in scope  -295  -2 403 –  -2 698 
Currency translation effects  -186  -838  -119  -1 143 
Reclassification & others –  -317  288  -29 

As of January 1, 2013  22 589  119 776  13 236  155 601 
Additions –  1 404  253  1 657 
Disposals and retirements  -1  -1 817  -1 568  -3 386 
Currency translation effects  -144  -473  -210  -827 
Reclassification & others – –  411  411 

As of December 31, 2013  22 444  118 890  12 122  153 456 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
As of January 1, 2012 –  -34 090  -10 311  -44 401 
Systematic depreciation –  -3 992  -1 454  -5 446 
Impairment – –  -927  -927 
Disposals and retirements –  1  1 867  1 868 
Change in scope –  977 –  977 
Currency translation effects –  67  93  160 
Reclassification & others –  210  -210 –

As of January 1, 2013 –  -36 827  -10 942  -47 769 
Systematic depreciation –  -4 163  -920  -5 083 
Impairment –  -50 –  -50 
Disposals and retirements –  1 812  1 568  3 380 
Currency translation effects –  -100  122  22 
Reclassification & others – –  -126  -126 

As of December 31, 2013 –  -39 328  -10 298  -49 626 

Net book values as of December 31, 2012  22 589  82 949  2 294  107 832 

Net book values as of December 31, 2013  22 444  79 562  1 824  103 830 

Useful life in years Indefinite 10 – 50 4 – 8

2012 building improvements impairments relate to the closure of locations and premises following a restructuring program.

2013 impairment for building equipment corresponds to the destruction of building equipment due to a natural disaster; the related insurance claim 

is not resolved.

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Fire insurance value of buildings  129 872  130 211 
Corporate buildings on land whose owner has granted  
a permanent and specific right of use  7 360  7 674 
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EQUIPMENT AND MACHINES 

In CHF'000

Technical 
equipment  

and machinery
Other  

equipment Total

GROSS VALUES AT COST
As of January 1, 2012  193 671  15 304  208 974 
Additions  13 319  1 321  14 640 
Change in scope  -3 974  -827  -4 801 
Disposals and retirements  -11 836  -1 328  -13 164 
Currency translation effects  -814  -102  -916 
Reclassification & others  1 434  -1 453  -19 

As of January 1, 2013  191 800  12 915  204 714 
Additions  17 158  1 527  18 685 
Disposals and retirements  -15 413  -575  -15 988 
Currency translation effects  -266  -182  -448 
Reclassification & others  149  -563  -414 

As of December 31, 2013  193 428  13 122  206 549 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
As of January 1, 2012  -137 170  -10 531  -147 701 
Systematic depreciation  -23 493  -1 560  -25 053 
Impairment  -1 181  -16  -1 197 
Change in scope  2 270  450  2 720 
Disposals and retirements  11 632  1 087  12 719 
Currency translation effects  678  46  724 
Reclassification & others  -1 167  1 167 –

As of January 1, 2013  -148 431  -9 357  -157 788 
Systematic depreciation  -19 755  -1 361  -21 116 
Impairment  -100 –  -100 
Disposals and retirements  15 193  575  15 768 
Currency translation effects  125  91  216 
Reclassification & others  -12  139  127 

As of December 31, 2013  -152 980  -9 913  -162 893 

Net book values as of December 31, 2012  43 369  3 558  46 926 

Net book values as of December 31, 2013  40 448  3 209  43 657 

Useful life in years 4 – 10 4 – 7

Technical equipment and machinery comprises assets made available to clients and generating recurring service revenue. 
2012 equipment impairments consist of equipment in location that has been retired following the restructuring program or 
equipment that is no longer used. 2013 impairment represents technical equipment that is no longer used.

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Fire insurance value of technical equipment and machinery  137 013  137 780 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

In CHF'000
Technol-

ogy

Customer  
lists, 

 Trade-
marks 

 & Brands Software Goodwill
Other 

intangibles Total

GROSS VALUES AT COST
As of January 1, 2012  114 063  3 467  64 326  135 765  404  318 025 
Additions  8 578 –  3 038 –  38  11 654 
Disposals and retirements  -12 512 –  -2 861 –  -2  -15 375 
Change in scope  -5 834  -27  -37 –  -38  -5 936 
Currency translation effects  -648  -44  -271  -3 282  -2  -4 247 
Reclassification & others  -3 145 –  3 193 – –  48 

As of January 1, 2013  100 502  3 396  67 388  132 483  400  304 169 
Additions  6 106 –  3 748 –  9 854 
Disposals and retirements  -3 864 –  -4 985 –  -8 849 
Currency translation effects  -128  -15  -56  -3 064  -5  -3 268 
Reclassification & others – –  3 –  3 

As of December 31, 2013  102 616  3 381  66 098  129 419  395  301 909 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
As of January 1, 2012  -54 579  -2 396  -45 936 –  -401  -103 312 
Systematic amortization  -15 326  -211  -11 817 – –  -27 354 
Impairment  -3 097 –  -570 – –  -3 667 
Change in scope  2 568  27  29 – –  2 624 
Recovery of amortization on disposal and retirements  12 512 –  2 575 – –  15 087 
Currency translation effects  399  40  180 –  1  620 

As of January 1, 2013  -57 523  -2 540  -55 539 –  -400  -116 002 
Systematic amortization  -13 515  -214  -6 166 – –  -19 895 
Impairment  -2 951 –  -2 178 – –  -5 129 
Recovery of amortization on disposal and retirements  3 261 –  4 681 – –  7 942 
Reclassification & others – – – –
Currency translation effects  325  23  72 –  5  425 

As of December 31, 2013  -70 403  -2 731  -59 130 –  -395  -132 659 

Net book values as of December 31, 2012  42 979  856  11 849  132 483 –  188 167 

Net book values as of December 31, 2013  32 213  650  6 968  129 419 –  169 250 

Useful life in years 4 – 10 5 – 10 3 – 4 Indefinite 4

2013 and 2012 technology impairments relate to developments which were either stopped or for which future cash flows 
became uncertain. 2013  software impairment relates to projects for which future cash flows became uncertain while 2012  
figures relates to software for which usage has been stopped.

Intangibles with indefinite useful life are subject to a yearly impairment review. Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing 
to their cash generating units which are defined, within the frame of the Group, as its operating segments. 
Concerning Goodwill, kCHF 124 941 have been allocated to Integrated Digital Television  (2012: kCHF 128 071) and kCHF 4 478 
(2012: kCHF 4 412) to Public Access Solutions.
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Integrated Digital Television
Integrated Digital Television goodwill has been tested for impairment with a value in use calculation based on cash flow projec-
tions approved by the Group management covering a five-year period and a discount rate of 9.5 % (2012: 9.5%). The cash 
flows beyond that five-year plan have been extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 1.0% (2012: 2.0%) for core digital TV 
activities and 2.5% for initiatives (2012: 2.0%) per annum.  Revenue assumptions for the five-year plan were generated from 
existing products and existing customers and newly launched activities. Key assumptions reflect management best knowl-
edge of the market, business evolution and past experience.

In 2013 and for 2012, management analyzed independently reasonable possible changes in the plan for changes in discount 
rate, changes in growth rate in perpetuity, loss of key customers representing approximately 10% of recurring revenue. Based 
on such analyses and on the fact that headroom is more than one multiple of the carrying value of goodwill, management 
concludes that any reasonably possible change in key assumptions on which recoverable amount is based would not cause 
the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

In late 2012, a building was transferred to investment property following a change in use. 2013 rental income and direct operat-
ing expenses for the investment property were kCHF 258 (2012: kCHF 21) and kCHF 13 (2012 : kCHF 37) respectively. 2013 
and 2012 fair value of the investement property is estimated at CHF 2.9 million and 2.8 million respectively corresponding to 
planned rental income capitalized at 9%. 

In CHF'000
Investment  

property

GROSS VALUES AT COST
As of January 1, 2012 –
Transfer from tangible fixed assets  2 698 
Currency translation effects  4 

As of December 31, 2012  2 702 
Currency translation effects  40 

As of December 31, 2013  2 742 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT
As of January 1, 2012 –
Systematic depreciation  -152 
Transfer from tangible fixed assets  -977 
Currency translation effects  -2 

As of December 31, 2012  -1 131 
Systematic depreciation  -137 
Currency translation effects  -15 

As of December 31, 2013  -1 283 

Net book values as of December 31, 2012  1 571 

Net book values as of December 31, 2013  1 459 

Useful life in years 5 – 50 *

* Investment property includes land which is not subject to depreciation.
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18. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

In CHF'000 2013 2012

At January 1  4 398  3 996 
Share of profit  1 681  1 208 
Dividends received  -1 230  -832 
Currency translation effects  -81  26 

At December 31  4 768  4 398 

The Group’s interests in its principal associates, all of which are unlisted, were as follows:

Interest held
Name of associate Principal activity 2 013 2 012
APT-SkiData Ltd, United Kingdom Sales of Public Access products 26% 26%
SkiData Parking Systems, Hong-Kong Sales of Public Access products 26% 26%
SKIDATA India Private Limited, India Sales of Public Access products 49% 49%
Hantory Co., Ltd, South Korea Digital Television sales and service 49% 49%
iWedia SA, Switzerland Digital Television sales and service 40% 40%

SUMMARIZED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP’S ASSOCIATES

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Total assets  28 296  27 761 
Total liabilities  15 204  15 836 
Net assets  13 092  11 925 
Group's share of associates' net assets  4 768  4 398 

2013 2012

Revenue  51 479  44 744 
Result of the period  6 083  5 195 
Group's share of associates' result for the period  1 681  1 208 

19. DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset amounts are as follows:

In CHF'000 31.12.2013
restated 

31.12.2012

Deferred tax assets  56 118  61 859 
Deferred tax liabilities  -491  -4 348 

 55 627  57 511 
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The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

In CHF'000 Note 2013
restated 

2012

At January 1  57 511  55 138 
Exchange differences  -152  -176 
Recognized against other comprehensive income  -827  1 358 
Income statement (expense)/income 12  -905  1 191 

At December 31  55 627  57 511 

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances 
within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

In CHF’000

restated 
At January 1, 

2013

Income  
statement 

effect

Other 
Comprehensive 

income

Currency 
 translation 

 effects
At December 

31, 2013

Deferred tax assets associated with
- intangibles  26 866  4 979 –  -7  31 838 
- employee benefits  13 433  516  -827  16  13 138 
- tax losses  15 586  -8 243 –  -74  7 269 
- provisions and other elements tax deductible when paid  4 039  -1 852 –  -12  2 175 
- inter-company profit elimination  2 304  -599 –  -78  1 627 
- others  -83  223 –  5  145 

Total deferred tax assets (gross)  62 145  -4 976  -827  -150  56 192 

Deferred tax liabilities associated with
- affiliates and allowances for Group 
  companies  -4 137  4 123 – –  -14 
- provisions & accelerated tax depreciation  -490  -7 –  -3  -500 
- others  -7  -45 –  1  -51 

Total deferred tax liabilities (gross)  -4 634  4 071 –  -2  -565 

Net deferred tax asset/(liability)  57 511  -905  -827  -152  55 627 
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And for the past year (restated): 

In CHF’000

restated 
At January 1, 

2012

Income  
statement 

effect

Other 
Comprehensive 

income

Currency 
 translation 

 effects

restated 
At December 

31, 2012

Deferred tax assets associated with
- intangibles  24 247  2 618  1  26 866 
- employee benefits  11 271  812  1 358  -8  13 433 
- tax losses  21 730  -6 126  -18  15 586 
- provisions and other elements tax deductible when paid  1 117  2 985  -63  4 039 
- inter-company profit elimination  2 846  -443  -99  2 304 
- others  -54  -28  -1  -83 

Total deferred tax assets (gross)  61 157  -182  1 358  -188  62 145 

Deferred tax liabilities associated with
- affiliates and allowances for Group 
  companies  -4 159  21  1  -4 137 
- provisions & accelerated tax depreciation  -1 655  1 157  8  -490 
- others  -205  195  3  -7 

Total deferred tax liabilities (gross)  -6 019  1 373 –  12  -4 634 

Net deferred tax asset/(liability)  55 138  1 191  1 358  -176  57 511 

UNRECOGNIZED TAX LOSSES CARRIED FORWARD
At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses and temporary differences of CHF 860.1 million (2012: 
CHF 847.5 million) available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been recognized in respect of 
CHF 256.4 million (2012: CHF 247.7 million) of such losses and temporary differences. No deferred tax asset has been 
recognized in respect of the remaining CHF 603.7 million (2012: CHF 599.8 million) due to the unpredictability of future 
profits streams. The amount of unused tax losses carry forward which has not been capitalized as deferred tax assets, 
with their expiry dates, is as follows:

In CHF million 2013 2012

Expiration within:
One year  2.9  4.6 
Two years  33.0  9.6 
Three years  9.2  90.2 
Four years  5.5  15.9 
Five years  92.1  5.7 
More than five years  461.0  473.8 

Total  603.7  599.8 
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AND OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Available-for-sale financial assets:
- equity instruments with no quoted market price (at cost less impairment)  834  4 523 
- equity instruments with no quoted market price (level 3)  1 400 –
- marketable securities (level 1)  1 030  295 
Loan – third party  4 992  6 253 
Loan – related party  833  1 323 
State and government institutions  19 765  21 805 
Deferred contract cost (long term portion)  28 270  37 371 
Others  3 074  2 575 

 60 198  74 145 

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market, and 
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. Such assets are measured at cost net of impairment for kCHF 834 (2012: kCHF 
4 523). Following the initial public offering in late 2013 of one equity instrument, this has been reclassified from available-for-
sale financial assets valued at cost less impairment to marketable securities in 2013 for kCHF 1 030. We further transferred an 
equity instrument from that category to level 3 due to the better predictabilities of cash flows and further booked a temporary 
value adjustment of kCHF -1 209 recognized against other comprehensive income. 2012 marketable securities were sold 
in 2013 and a loss amounting to kCHF 291 has been recycled from other comprehensive income to the income statement.
Third party and related party loans are measured at amortized cost. The 2013 and 2012 loan to a related party corresponds to 
the long term portion of the sale proceeds of the Audio activity in 2011 that has been discounted using a 9.3% rate. The effective 
interest rate on third party loans is 2.83% (2012:3.11%). Others mainly consist of guarantee deposits.
State and government institutions include government grants for R&D projects that will not be received within the next 12 
months.

21. INVENTORIES

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Raw materials  24 843  29 263 
Work in progress  5 553  6 041 
Finished goods  33 987  33 343 

 64 383  68 647 

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes kCHF 2 394 (2012: kCHF 622) in respect of write-downs of 
inventories and has been reduced by kCHF 848 (2012: kCHF 1 781) in respect of the reversal of such write-down.
Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress included in cost of material are kCHF -2 597 (2012: 
kCHF -12 555).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013



32

KUDELSKI GROUPCONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

22. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Trade accounts receivable  203 025  202 881 
Less: provision for impairment  -19 312  -17 635 
Trade accounts receivable related parties  4 280  4 694 

Trade receivables – net  187 993  189 940 

Amounts due from customers for contract work  9 240  6 457 

Total  197 233  196 397 

Before accepting new customers, the Group performs a credit scoring to assess the potential customer’s credit quality  
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed are regularly reviewed. Furthermore, for low value added 
business deliveries, the Group usually works on a back to back basis.

The following table summarizes the movement in the provision for impairment:

In CHF'000 2013 2012

January 1  -17 635  -27 885 

Provision for impairment charged to income statement  -4 685  -3 558 
Utilization  652  4 302 
Reversal  2 369  10 011 
Translation effects  -13  -505 

December 31  -19 312  -17 635 

The creation and release of provision for impairment are included in other operating expenses in the income statement.  
Provisions recognized for the impairment of trade receivables amount to kCHF -4 685 (2012: kCHF -3 558). Amounts  
charged to the provision for impairment account are written-off when there is no expectation to recover additional cash.

The following table contains details of the trade accounts receivables ageing that are not overdue under the contractual pay-
ment terms and an analysis of overdue amounts that are not impaired:

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Not overdue  125 382  121 617 
Past due and not impaired:
- not more than one month  24 178  29 201 
- more than one month and not more than three months  19 587  16 053 
- more than three months and not more than six months  8 248  10 465 
- more than six months and not more than one year  8 493  7 482 
- more than one year  2 105  5 122 

Total trade accounts receivable, net  187 993  189 940 
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23. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Loans third parties – short term portion  948  1 220 
Prepaid expenses  7 432  8 057 
Accrued income  5 567  3 077 
State and government institutions  19 972  19 322 
Advances to suppliers and employees  1 658  9 592 
Deferred contract cost (short term portion)  10 370  11 621 
Other receivables - third parties  2 715  3 086 
Other receivables - related parties  1 297  983 

 49 959  56 958 

Loans are measured at amortized cost. The effective interest rate on short term loans was 5.0% (2012: 5.0%). 

24. FINANCIAL ASSETS 

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Financial assets used for non hedging:
- Financial instruments (level 2) 49 –  7 

– –

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Cash at bank and in hand  95 571  107 412 
Short term deposits  4 702  2 674 

 100 273  110 086 

The effective interest rate on short term deposits was 0.68% (2012: 0.55%). These deposits have an average maturity of 30 
days. The Group only enters into transactions with high rated banks.

26. SHARE CAPITAL

ISSUED AND FULLY PAID SHARE CAPITAL

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

49'158'230 / 48'982'155 bearer shares, at CHF 10 each  491 582  489 822 
46'300'000 registered shares, at CHF 1 each  46 300  46 300 

 537 882  536 122 

The Registered Shares are neither listed nor traded on any stock exchange. The Bearer Shares have been listed on the main 
market of the SIX since August 2, 1999 (ticker: KUD, security number: 1 226 836; ISIN CH0012268360). 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013 
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AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL

In CHF'000 2013 2012

3'768'164 bearer shares, at CHF 10 each  37 682  37 682 
3'200'000 registered shares, at CHF 1 each  3 200  3 200 

Authorized share capital as of December 31  40 882  40 882 

The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the share capital in one or more stages until May 15, 2014, for the purpose of 
financing the full or partial acquisition of other companies.

CONDITIONAL SHARE CAPITAL

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Conditional share capital as of January 1  105 316  107 639 
Employee share purchase plan  -79  -337 
Shares allotted to employees  -1 682  -1 986 

Conditional share capital as of December 31  103 555  105 316 

Of which may be utilized as of December 31 for:
- Convertible bonds:

   10'000'000 bearer shares, at CHF 10 each  100 000  100 000 
- Options or share subscriptions to employees:

   355'526 / 531'601 bearer shares, at CHF 10 each  3 555  5 316 

 103 555  105 316 

27. TREASURY SHARES 

Note

Number of  
bearer 
shares

Book value  
in CHF'000

As of January 1, 2012  11 168  326 
Treasury shares granted to employees 44  -1 250  -36 

As of December 31, 2012  9 918  290 
Treasury shares granted to employees 44  -1 250  -37 
Sale of Treasury shares 44  -8 668  -253 

As of December 31, 2013 – –
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

28. NON CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The following table summarizes the information relating to each of the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non controlling 
interests, before any intercompany elimination:

As at December 31, 2013 (in CHF’000) Nagrastar
275, Sacramento 

Street LLC NagraID Security

Non controlling interests percentage 50.0% 50.1% 50.0%
Non-current assets  4 800  32 863  2 415 
Current Assets  30 617  1 243  7 456 
Non-current liabilities –  14 637  39 373 
Current liabilities  19 755  1 283  1 789 
Total Equity  15 662  18 186  -31 140 
Non controlling interests percentage 50% 50.1% 50%
Theoritical amount of non controlling interests  7 831  9 111  -15 570 
Losses not attributed to non controlling interests* – –  2 846 
Carrying amount of non controlling interests  7 831  9 111  -12 724 
Revenue  22 457  3 363  10 788 
Net result  8 495  1 214  -7 515 
Other comprehensive income  -430  -173 –
Total comprehensive income  8 065  1 041  -7 515 
Total comprehensive income allocated to non controlling interests  4 032  521  -3 758 
Dividend paid to non controlling interests  -4 634 – –
Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  -7 761  208  -27 

As at December 31, 2012 (in CHF’000) Nagrastar
275, Sacramento 

Street LLC NagraID Security

Non controlling interests percentage 50.0% 50.1% 50.0%
Non-current assets  6 587  33 952  2 950 
Current Assets  33 444  921  9 269 
Non-current liabilities –  16 499  19 764 
Current liabilities  23 166  1 227  16 230 
Total Equity  16 865  17 145  -23 625 
Non controlling interests percentage 50% 50.1% 50%
Theoritical amount of non controlling interests  8 432  8 590  -11 813 
Losses not attributed to non controlling interests* – –  2 846 
Carrying amount of non controlling interests  8 432  8 590  -8 967 
Revenue  20 361  3 437  10 945 
Net result  5 658  1 429  -6 986 
Other comprehensive income  -241  -266 –
Total comprehensive income  5 417  1 163  -6 986 
Total comprehensive income allocated to non controlling interests  2 709  582  -3 493 
Dividend paid to non controlling interests  -7 033 – –
Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  -8 771  21  -41 

* Under the prior version of IAS 27, the Group had stopped attributing losses to non-controlling interest because the losses exceeded the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest. Upon adoption of the 

current version of IAS 27, we did not revise the prior consolidated net income and at that date the non-controlling interest carrying amount was considered as being zero.

These companies are treated as subsidiaries because the Group controls those entities either by financing them or bearing 
an over-proportional responsibility over the main risks.

29. LONG TERM FINANCIAL DEBT 

In CHF'000 Note 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Bank loans - long term 30  14 262  85 744 
CHF 110 million 3% bond 2011/2016 31  109 174  108 912 
Other long term financial liabilities  8  23 

 123 444  194 679 
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30. LONG TERM BANK LOANS

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Credit facility agreement –  70 000 
Mortgage - long term portion  13 884  15 372 
Other long term bank loans  378  372 

Total long term bank loans  14 262  85 744 

The average effective interest rate on total long term bank loans was 2.48% (2012: 2.80%).

In 2012, the Group obtained a committed long term syndicated credit facility until March 2015 of CHF 145 million. As of De-
cember 31, 2013, the Group has drawn CHF 30 million (2012 : CHF 100 million) of which CHF 0 (2012 : CHF 70 millions) have 
been classified as long term and CHF 30 millions (2012 : CHF 30 million) as short term in the balance sheet.

31. BOND 2011/2016
On June 16, 2011 Kudelski SA issued a CHF 110 million bond with a subscription price of 100.284%, bearing an interest rate  
of 3% and maturing on December 16, 2016 with denominations of CHF 5 000 and multiples thereof. The bonds are measured 
at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. The proceeds amounted to kCHF 110 312 less issuance costs of  
kCHF 1 786 totaling an initial net proceed of kCHF 108 526 and resulting in an effective interest rate of 3.32%. The bond is 
recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, as follows:

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Initial balance / Net proceed of bond issuance  108 912  108 659 
Amortization of transaction costs less premium  262  253 

Liability component as of December 31  109 174  108 912 

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS LIABILITIES 

Apart from the social security plans fixed by the law, the Kudelski Group sponsors one independent pension plan in Switzer-
land. All employees are covered by this plan, which is a defined benefit plan according to IAS 19 revised. Retirement benefits are 
based on contributions, computed as a percentage of salary, adjusted for the age of the employee and shared approximately 
46%/54% by employee and employer. In addition to retirement benefits, the plan provides death and long-term disability 
benefits to its employees. Liabilities and plan assets are revised every year by an independent actuary.

All employees in Switzerland are covered by this plan and IAS 19 revised requires that the plan is treated as defined benefit, 
with the primary risks around liability measurement being:
a)  Mortality: the Group makes allowance for future anticipated improvements in life expectancy. However if life expectancy 
improves at a faster rate than assumed, pensions would be paid for longer and consequently the plan’s IFRS liability would 
increase.
b) Investments: liabilities measured under IFRS increase with the interest cost each year and would also increase if bond yields 
(used to determine IFRS discount rates) fell, to the extent that the returns achieved on plan assets are insufficient to offset 
these increases in liabilities.

Abroad the Kudelski Group sponsors ten pension plans treated as defined benefit plans according to IAS 19.  Liabilities and 
plan assets are revised every year by an independant local actuary.

Plan assets have been estimated at fair market values. Liabilities have been calculated according to the “Projected Unit Credit” 
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

The following table sets forth the status of the pension plans and the amount that is recognized in the balance sheet:

In CHF'000 31.12.2013
restated 

31.12.2012
restated 

01.01.2012

Fair value of plan assets 134 401 115 075 98 732
Defined benefit obligation  -195 682  -175 308  -149 230 

Funded status  -61 281  -60 233  -50 498 

The liability that is recognized in the balance sheet at December 31, 2013 amounts kCHF 61 281 (kCHF 60 233 at  
December 31, 2012).

According to IAS 19, the following amount is recorded as net pension cost in the income statement of the financial year 2013 
(respectively 2012):

In CHF'000 2013
restated 

2012

Service cost  -17 671  -16 359 
Interest cost  -3 870  -3 838 
Interest income  2 607  2 576 
Employees contributions  5 839  5 931 
Amortization of gains/(losses)  54  -150 
Amortization of plan amendment –  47 
Curtailment gain / (loss)  295  493 

Net pension (cost)/income  -12 746  -11 300 

Exchange rate difference 111 46

Employer contribution  7 236  7 132 

The net pension cost for the financial year 2013 amounts kCHF 12 746 (kCHF 11 300 for the financial year 2012).
The main assumptions used for the calculation of the pension cost and the defined benefit obligation for the years 2013 and 
2012 are as follows:

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Switzerland
Discount rate 2.15% 2.15%
Rate of future increase in compensations 2.00% 2.00%
Rate of future increase in current pensions 1.00% 0% 1 year, then 1%
Interest rate credited on savings accounts 2.15% 2.50%

Turnover
10.0% on  

average
4.2% on  
average

Retirement age 64.81 on average 64.81 on average

Abroad
Discount rate 3.25% 3.25%
Rate of future increase in compensations 2.84% 2.84%

Turnover
8.3% on  
average

8.2% on  
average

Retirement age 62.97 on average 63.06 on average
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The changes in Defined benefit obligation and Fair value of plan assets during the year 2013 (resp. 2012) are as follows :

A. Change in defined benefit obligation

In CHF'000 2013
restated 

2012

Defined benefit obligation as of 1.1.  -175 308  -149 230 

Service cost  -17 671  -16 359 
Interest cost  -3 870  -3 838 
Change in demographic assumptions  -13 444 –
Change in financial assumptions  11 958  -15 366 
Impact of plan amendment –  47 
Actuarial gains/(losses)  1 740  4 477 
Curtailment  295  493 
Benefits payments  729  4 422 
Exchange rate difference  -111  46 

Defined benefit obligation as of December 31,  -195 682  -175 308 

B. Change in fair value of plan assets

In CHF'000 2 013
restated 

2012

Fair value of plan assets as of 1.1.  115 075  98 732 

Interest income  2 607  2 576 
Employees’ contributions  5 839  5 931 
Employer’s contribution  7 236  7 132 
Plan assets gains/(losses)  4 373  5 125 
Benefits (paid)/received -729 -4 421

Fair value of plan assets as of December 31,  134 401  115 075 

The change in demographic assumption in 2013 relates to the current best practice of transitioning from a periodic demo-
graphic basis to a generational demographic basis taking into consideration an increase in the expected lifetime.
The change in financial assumptions in 2013 relates to the change in the interest rate credited on savings accounts and to the 
change in turnover.
The actual return on plan assets amounts to kCHF 6 980 in 2013 (kCHF 7 701 for the year 2012). The estimated employer’s 
contribution to the pension plans for the financial year 2014 amount kCHF 6 978.

The categories of plan assets and their corresponding expected return at December 31, 2013 (respectively December 31, 
2012) are as follows:

In CHF'000 31.12.2013
Proportion in % 

31.12.2013 31.12.2012
Proportion in % 

31.12.2012

Cash  24 204 18.1%  8 009 7.0%
Swiss bonds  32 997 24.6%  31 450 27.3%
Foreign bonds  10 409 7.7%  9 830 8.5%
Swiss shares  23 313 17.3%  20 992 18.2%
Foreign shares  22 431 16.7%  22 533 19.6%
Real estates  17 377 12.9%  15 383 13.4%
Structured products  3 670 2.7%  6 878 6.0%

Total  134 401 100.0%  115 075 100.0%
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The expected benefit payments for the next ten years are as follows :

In CHF'000 Switzerland Abroad

2014  7 167  8 
2015  6 816  92 
2016  6 370  28 
2017  6 080  14 
2018  5 797  70 
2019-2023  25 409  1 140 

The following table shows the sensitivity of the defined benefit pension obligations to the principal actuarial assumptions based 
on reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period:

Change in 2013 year-end defined 
obligation

Switzerland Abroad

In CHF'000 In CHF'000

50 basis point increase in discount rate  18 986  687 
50 basis point decrease in discount rate  -21 857  -753 
50 basis point increase in rate of salary increase  -3 253  n/a 
50 basis point decrease  in rate of salary increase  3 060  n/a 
50 basis point increase of interest in saving accounts  -10 011  n/a 
50 basis point decrease of interest in saving accounts  9 156  n/a 
50 basis point increase in rate of pension increase  -7 008  n/a 
50 basis point decrease in rate of pension increase  6 552  n/a 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013
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33. PROVISIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

In CHF’000

Restruc-
turing 

provisions

Legal fee 
and  

litigations

Provision 
for  

warranty
Total  
2013

Total  
2012

As of January 1  8 433  1 999  1 949  12 381  19 643 

Additional provisions  666  96  301  1 063  8 532 
Unused amounts reversed –  -1 573  -465  -2 038  -1 255 
Used during the year  -5 072  -14  -123  -5 209  -14 533 
Exchange differences  127  -8  30  149  -6 

As of December 31  4 154  500  1 692  6 346  12 381 

Thereof:
- Short term  3 866  500  1 692  6 058  11 877 
- Long term  288 – –  288  504 

 4 154  500  1 692  6 346  12 381 

Restructuring provisions
Following the Group restructuring plan announced late 2011, provisions for restructuring have been recognised in the  2012 
accounts. In 2013, restructuring provisions have been recognized following the closing of several offices. Restructuring provi-
sions also include lease termination considered as onerous contract.

Legal fee and litigations
A number of Group companies are the subject of litigation arising out of the normal conduct of their business, as a result of 
which claims could be made against them. Such claims, in whole or in part, might not be covered by insurance. The provisions 
for legal fee and lawsuit are valued according to the best management estimate principle.
In 2013, a legal provision has been reversed following the cancellation of the underlying risk.

Provision for warranty
Provisions for warranty-related costs are recognised when the product is sold or service provided. Initial recognition is based 
on historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty-related costs is revised annually.

34. OTHER LONG TERM LIABILITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In CHF’000 Note 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Other long-term liabilities  1 535  725 
Derivative financial instruments 39  753  1 127 

 2 288  1 852 

35. SHORT TERM FINANCIAL DEBT

In CHF’000 Note 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Short term bank borrowings  59 244  74 075 
Other short term financial liabilities  13  8 

 59 257  74 083 

The average effective interest paid in 2013 for short term bank borrowings was 1.33% (2012: 1.58%). Short term bank bor-
rowings include the short-term portion of a credit facility agreement (see note 30) for kCHF 30 000 (2012: kCHF 30 000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

36. TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

In CHF’000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Trade accounts payable – third parties  37 727  40 071 
Trade accounts payable – related parties  2  2 

 37 729  40 073 

37. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

In CHF’000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Accrued expenses  70 269  70 010 
Deferred income  15 611  13 434 
Payable to pension fund  551  564 
Other payables  11 603  10 655 

 98 034  94 663 

38. ADVANCES RECEIVED FROM CLIENTS

In CHF’000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Amounts due to customers for contract work  4 272  2 099 
Advances from clients  9 348  12 263 

 13 620  14 362 

39. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Contract of underlying 
principal amount

Assets Liabilities  

In CHF’000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Interests related instruments (level 2)
- Interest rate swap  12 460  12 810 – –  753  1 127 

Total of derivatives financial instruments  12 460  12 810 – –  753  1 127 

Of which:
- Short-term – – – – – –
- Long-term  12 460  12 810 – –  753  1 127 

Interest related instrument qualify as cash flow hedge and has concomitant maturities with underlying loan agreements.
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40. IMPACT OF INTRODUCING REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARD

A third balance sheet is required when an entity applies an accounting policy retrospectively that has a material effect on the information in 
the third balance sheet. The amendments of related notes are not required to accompany the third balance sheet. 
In the current year, the Group has retrospectively adopted IAS 19 (revised 2011) on Employee Benefit. IAS 19R eliminates the 
previously applied ‘corridor method’, under which the recognition of actuarial gain and losses was deferred. Instead, the full 
defined benefit obligation, net of plan asset is now recorded in the balance sheet, with changes resulting from re-measure-
ments recognized immediately in other comprehensive income. The revised standard also requires net interest expense to be 
calculated as the product of the net defined benefit liability and the discount rate as determined at the beginning of the year. 
The effect of this is to remove the previous concept of recognizing an expected return on plan assets. As a result, the Group 
decided to modify its accounting policy in order to treat this net interest expense as ‘interest expense‘ in the income statement 
instead of ‘employee benefit expenses’. The Group believes that this treatment better reflects the nature of the expense fol-
lowing the revised standard. In addition, past service costs are now recognized in the income statement at the earlier of when 
the amendment occurs or when the related restructuring or termination costs are recognized. 
The impact  of the adjustments, for the current and each prior period presented, on each financial statement line item affected is as follow 
for the balance sheet:

In CHF’000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 01.01.2012

Increase in the employee benefits liabilities (non-current) -22 739 -25 218 -18 111
Increase in deferred tax assets (non-current) 5 466 5 841 4 181
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (non-current) 37 37 37

Net impact on equity  -17 236  -19 340  -13 893 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  -17 236  -19 340  -13 893 
Non controlling interests – – –

And for the income statement:

In CHF’000 2013 2012

Increase in employees benefits expense  -833  -80 
Increase in interest expense  -1 263  -1 262 
Decrease in current tax expense  452  301 

Impact on net profit for the year (continuing operations)  -1 644  -1 041 

Attributable to equity holders of the parent  -1 644  -1 041 
Non controlling interests – –

Increase / decrease in actuarial movements in OCI  4 597  -5 768 
Decrease / increase in tax effect on actuarial movements in OCI  -827  1 358 
Effect of currency translation adjustments  -8  2 

Net increase / decrease in other comprehensive income, net of tax  3 762  -4 408 

Attributable to equity holders of the parent  3 762  -4 408 
Non controlling interests – –

There was no material impact on the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows, Basic and diluted EPS would have been at 
CHF 0.8126 and CHF 0.3021 for 2013 and 2012 respectively should we not adopt IAS 19R resulting in a decrease of 0.0305 
and 0.0187 for the respective years.
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41. PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

Voting rights Shareholdings
31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Kudelski family pool 63% 57% 35% 24%

As at December 31, 2012, the Kudelski family pool included Mr. Stefan and André Kudelski. Following the death of Mr. Stefan 
Kudelski on January 16, 2013, the Kudelski family pool includes Mr. André Kudelski, Mrs Marguerite Kudelski, Mrs Isabelle 
Kudelski Hardy, Mrs Irene Kudelski Mauroux and their respective descendants. 

42. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The following amounts were recognized as expenses and charged to the income statement:

In CHF’000 2013 2012

Research and development  192 258  196 505 

43. DIVIDEND 

The ordinary dividend paid in 2013 was kCHF 10 757  (2012: kCHF 5 359) which corresponds to a dividend of CHF 0.20 (2012: 
CHF 0.10) per bearer share and CHF 0.02 (2012: CHF 0.01) per registered share. 
For the current year, the Board of Directors proposes a distribution of CHF 0.30 per bearer share and CHF 0.03 per registered 
share. The distribution to be paid is kCHF 16 137 and may fluctuate upon exercise of options, conversion rights, issuance of 
additional share capital for the employees and for the Employee Share Program by utilization of the conditional share capital. 
The proposal of the Board of Directors is to pay CHF 0.20 distribution out of Capital contribution reserve and CHF 0.10 dis-
tribution out of retained earnings per bearer share (CHF 0.02 and CHF 0.01 per registred share respectively) and is subject to 
the approval of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. It has not been included as a liability in these financial statements.
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44. EMPLOYEE SHARE PARTICIPATION PLANS

EMPLOYEE SHARE PURCHASE PROGRAM (ESPP)
As of financial year 2004, the Group set up a plan to allow employees of certain Group companies to buy shares, giving them 
preferential conditions to buy Kudelski SA bearer shares. All such shares purchased and the additional shares and options 
obtained through this plan are subject to a three-year blocking period. In 2011, the Board of Directors decided to modify the 
rules and regulations of the share purchase plan by replacing the distribution of options by shares.

Shares  
2013

Shares  
2012

Shares underwritten by employees  6 600  28 110 
Bonus shares and options from ESPP  1 320  5 622 

Total employee share program  7 920  33 732 

Amount paid by employee In CHF’000  57  143 
Booked corporate charges (excluding social charges) In CHF’000  5  58 

 62  201 

The following table summarizes the options part of this plan:

Changes in options held
Strike price  

in CHF
Options  

2013
Options  

2012

In circulation on January 1  15  1 923  6 691 
Total in circulation on January 1  1 923  6 691 

Rights forfeited 15  -1 339  -4 768 

In circulation on December 31  584  1 923 

- of which exercisable as of January 1 15  1 339  4 768 
- of which exercisable as of December 31 15  584  1 339 

SHARES ISSUED FOR EMPLOYEES
In 2013, 168 155 (2012: 198 591) bearer shares of Kudelski SA were given to employees for no consideration as part of their 
remumeration, of which 123 023 (2012: 120 890) include a seven-year blocking period and 45 132 (2012: 77 701) include a 
three year blocking period. The fair value recognized for this equity based compensation is kCHF 1 144 (2012: kCHF 826).

RETENTION PLAN FOLLOWING KUDELSKI GROUP ACQUISITION OF OPENTV CORP
Upon completion of OpenTV Corp’s acquisition by the Kudelski Group, OpenTV Corp purchased 16 752 Kudelski SA bearer 
shares in 2010 in order to establish a retention plan for selected OpenTV employees. Such shares are subject to vesting con-
dition lapsing with respect of one third on each anniversary date of June 30, 2011, June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2013 before 
such shares are transferred to the employees. The fair value of these shares amounted to kCHF 489 and was based on market 
price on the purchase date.
 
In 2011, following the departure of employees, 8 668 shares did and will not vest and were transferred to Kudelski SA while 
5 584 shares vested and were transferred to the employees.  In 2013 and 2012, 1 250 shares vested and were transferred to the 
employees. The expense of kCHF 5 (2012: kCHF 17) is charged to the income statement according to the vesting conditions.
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45. RELATED PARTIES

Trading transactions
Transactions between the Group and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Group have been eliminated on consoli-
dation and are not disclosed in this note. During the year, Group entities entered into the following significant trading transac-
tions with related parties, associates or joint ventures that are not member of the Group:

Sale of goods  
and services

Purchase of goods  
and services

Amounts owed  
to related parties

Amounts owed  
by related parties

In CHF’000 2013 2012 2013 2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Hantory Co., Ltd  6 586  4 320 – –  451  472 
APT-Skidata Ltd  8 082  6 349 –  2  2  2 559  1 412 
Skidata Parking System  8 931  6 989 – –  1 055  1 351 
SKIDATA India Private Limited  659  865 – –  78  478 
iWedia SA  144  275  195  154 –  46  149 

Total associated companies  24 402  18 798  195  154  2  2  4 189  3 862 

Audio Technology Switzerland SA – – – – – –  1 998  2 516 

Total other related – – – – – –  1 998  2 516 

APT SkiData and SkiData Parking Ltd are sales representatives companies for SkiData Group. Audio Technology Switzerland 
is considered as a related party as Kudelski Board members and Executives  invested in the company.

Key management compensation
Key management includes directors (executive and non-executives) and members of the Executive Committee. The com-
pensation paid or payable to key management for employee is shown below:

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Salaries and other short-term employees benefits  7 425 814  7 764 993 
Post-employments benefits  100 751  77 189 
Share-based payments  830 630  871 403 

 8 357 195  8 713 585 
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46. COMPENSATION, SHAREHOLDINGS AND LOANS 
This note provides with information required by article 663 b bis of the Swiss Code of Obligations. In implementing the new 
Group strategy, Group Executive Management has been simplified to better focus on Integrated Digital Television activities. 
The Group Executive Management consists of André Kudelski, Mauro Saladini, Pierre Roy and Alex Osadzinski (left in 2012).
Total compensation granted directly or indirectly by Kudelski SA or by one of its affiliated companies during 2013 and 2012 
to the members of the Board of Directors, members of the Group management and former board members are as follow:

Base 
 compensation  

in Cash 
CHF

Variable 
 compensation  

in Cash 
CHF

Variable 
 compensation 

in Kudelski 
Shares 

(number)
Other 

CHF

Total 
2013 
CHF

Board of Directors
Kudelski André, chairman  551 000 – – –  551 000 
Smadja Claude, vice chairman  130 000 – – –  130 000 
Bucher Norbert, member  50 000 – – –  50 000 
Dassault Laurent, member  40 000 – – –  40 000 
Deiss Joseph, member  50 000 – – –  50 000 
Foetisch Patrick, member  62 000 – –  77 127  139 127 
Kudelski Marguerite, member  50 000 – – –  50 000 
Lescure Pierre, member  120 000 – – –  120 000 
Zeller Alexandre, member  60 000 – – –  60 000 

Total board members  1 113 000 – –  77 127  1 190 127 

Management
Kudelski André, CEO  572 750  3 466 210  60 000  31 210  4 612 870 
Other management members  1 264 500  863 789  25 215  37 228  2 453 446 

Total Management  1 837 250  4 329 999  85 215  68 438  7 066 316 

Former board members
Kudelski Stefan, founder and honorary Chairman  17 085 – – –  17 085 

Base 
 compensation  

in Cash 
CHF

Variable 
 compensation  

in Cash 
CHF

Variable 
 compensation 

in Kudelski 
Shares 

(number)
Other 

CHF

Total  
2012 
CHF

Board of Directors
Kudelski André, chairman  551 000 – – –  551 000 
Smadja Claude, vice chairman  100 000 – – –  100 000 
Bucher Norbert, member  50 000 – – –  50 000 
Dassault Laurent, member  40 000 – – –  40 000 
Deiss Joseph, member  40 000 – – –  40 000 
Foetisch Patrick, member  50 000 – –  190 563  240 563 
Kudelski Marguerite, member  50 000 – – –  50 000 
Lescure Pierre, member  120 000 – – –  120 000 
Zeller Alexandre, member  50 000 – – –  50 000 

Total board members  1 051 000 – –  190 563  1 241 563 

Management
Kudelski André, CEO  563 500  3 083 000  80 000  31 257  4 200 957 
Other management members  1 529 865  1 248 069  50 502  67 739  3 193 876 

Total Management  2 093 365  4 331 069  130 502  98 996  7 394 833 

Former board members
Kudelski Stefan, founder and honorary Chairman  205 020 – – –  205 020 
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Share allotments are measured according to IFRS taking into consideration a discount factor for blocking periods. 60 000 
(2012: 112 309 ) bearer shares granted to certain management members are subject to a 7 year blocking period and 25 215 
(2012: 18 193 ) bearer shares are subject to a 3 year blocking period. 2013 and 2012 shares allotments were only granted 
early in the following year.

Compensation does not include reimbursement for business expenses incurred in the performance of their service as well as 
representation allowances as these are not considered compensation.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, no guarantees, loans, advances or borrowings in favor of members of the Board of Directors 
and members of the management or parties closely related to such persons were granted.

As of December 31, 2013, the members of the Board of Directors and members of the management had following interest in 
the  company (without including shares from 2013 variable compensation - issued in 2014):

31 december 2013
Registered shares Bearer shares Options

Board of Directors
Kudelski André, chairman (member of family pool) *  46 300 000  14 234 423 –
Smadja Claude, vice chairman –  1 300 –
Bucher Norbert, member –  1 700 –
Dassault Laurent, member –  2 340 –
Deiss Joseph, member –  1 000 –
Foetisch Patrick, member –  1 000 –
Kudelski Marguerite, (member of family pool) * –  * –
Lescure Pierre, member –  2 000 –
Zeller Alexandre, member – – –

Total board members  46 300 000  14 243 763 –

Management
Kudelski André, CEO  see above  see above  see above 
Saladini Mauro, CFO  187 092 –
Roy Pierre, COO –  51 413 –

Total Management (excluding CEO) –  238 505 –

*) Following the death of Mr. Stefan Kudelski on January 16, 2013, the Kudelski family pool includes Mr. André Kudelski, Mrs 
Marguerite Kudelski, Mrs Isabelle Kudelski Haldy, Mrs Irène Kudelski Mauroux and their respective descendants. As at De-
cember 31, 2012, the Kudelski family pool included Mr. Stefan and André Kudelski.
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And for 2012:

31 december 2012
Registered shares Bearer shares Options

Board of Directors
Kudelski André, chairman (family pool)  46 300 000  8 149 311 –
Smadja Claude, vice chairman –  1 300 –
Bucher Norbert, member –  1 700 –
Dassault Laurent, member –  2 000 –
Deiss Joseph, member –  1 000 –
Foetisch Patrick, member –  1 000 –
Kudelski Marguerite, member –  3 005 112 –
Lescure Pierre, member –  2 000 –
Zeller Alexandre, member –  7 200 –

Total board members  46 300 000  11 170 623 –

Management
Kudelski André, CEO  see above  see above  see above 
Saladini Mauro, CFO –  159 783  -50 
Roy Pierre, COO –  52 880 –
Osadzinski Alex, EVP Product –  5 656 –

Total Management (excluding CEO) –  218 319  -50 

At December 31, 2012, Marguerite Kudelski together with another family member as well as their respective  
descendants are the beneficial owners, through a common investment structure, of 3 000 000 Kudelski SA bearer shares, 
which represent 3.2% of the company’s voting rights.

47. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under operating leases are as follows:

In CHF’000 2 013 2 012

Within one year  7 376  1 601 
In the second to fifth year inclusive  22 891  11 342 

 30 267  12 943 
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48. CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The financial assets and liabilities are classified as follow as of December 31, 2013:

Assets as per balance sheet date December 31, 2013 (in 
CHF'000) Note

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Available- 
for-sale

Loans and 
receivables

Total 
31.12.2013

Financial assets and non current assets:
- equity instruments with no quoted  
  market price 20 –  2 234 –  2 234 
- marketable securities 20 –  1 030 –  1 030 
- long term loans 20 – –  4 992  4 992 
- receivables long term 20 – –  833  833 
- guarantee deposits 20 – –  3 074  3 074 
Trade accounts receivable 22 – –  187 993  187 993 
Other current assets: – – – –
- Loans 23 – –  948  948 
Cash and cash equivalents 25 – –  100 273  100 273 

–  3 264  298 113  301 377 

Liabilities as per balance sheet date December 31, 2013 
(in CHF'000) Note

Derivatives 
used for  
hedging

Financial 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Other financial 
liabilities

Total 
31.12.2013

Long term financial debt  29 – –  123 444  123 444 
Short term financial debt  35 – –  59 257  59 257 
Trade accounts payable  36 – –  37 729  37 729 
Other payables  37 – –  11 603  11 603 
Derivative financial instruments (short and long term)  39  753 – –  753 

 753 –  232 033  232 786 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013
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And for 2012:

Assets as per balance sheet date December 31, 2012 (in 
CHF'000) Note

Financial assets 
at fair value 

through profit 
or loss

Available- 
for-sale

Loans and 
receivables

Total 
31.12.2012

Financial assets and non current assets:
- equity instruments with no quoted  
  market price 20 –  4 523 –  4 523 
- marketable securities 20 –  295 –  295 
- long term loans 20 – –  7 576  7 576 
- guarantee deposits 20 – –  2 575  2 575 
Trade accounts receivable 22 – –  189 940  189 940 
Other current assets:
- Loans 23 – –  1 220  1 220 
- Financial assets instruments 24  7 – –  7 
Cash and cash equivalents 25 – –  110 086  110 086 

–
 7  4 818  311 397  316 222 

Liabilities as per balance sheet date December 31, 2012 
(in CHF'000) Note

Derivatives 
used for  
hedging

Financial 
liabilities at fair 

value through 
profit or loss

Other financial 
liabilities

Total 
31.12.2012

Long term financial debt  29 – –  194 679  194 679 
Short term financial debt  35 – –  74 083  74 083 
Trade accounts payable  36 – –  40 073  40 073 
Other payables  37 – –  10 655  10 655 
Derivative financial instruments (short and long term)  39  1 127 – –  1 127 

 1 127 –  319 490  320 617 

49. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

IFRS requires disclosure of fair value measurement by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
-	 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
-	 Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that 

is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)
-	 Level 3: inputs for the assets or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is unobservable inputs)
The table below illustrates the three hierarchical levels for valuing financial instruments carried at fair value as of Decem-
ber 31, 2013:

In CHF’000 Note 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Financial assets:
- marketable securities Level 1  20  1 030  295 
- derivative financial instruments Level 2  24 –  7 
- equity instuments with no quoted market price Level 3  20  1 400 –
Total financial assets  2 430  302 
Financial liabilities:
- derivative financial instruments Level 2  39  753  1 127 
Total financial liabilities  3 183  1 429 

Derivative financial instruments valuations (level 2) are based on dirty mark-to-market price communicated and calcu-
lated by the bank that issued the over-the-counter derivative instrument. Level 3 equity instruments with no quoted 
market price is based on discounted cash flow calculation provided by the company.
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Except as detailed in the following table, management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded at amortized cost in the financial statement approximate their fair values:

In CHF’000

Carrying 
amount 

2013
Fair value 

2013

Carrying 
amount 

2012
Fair value 

2012

Financial liabilities
- CHF 110 million bond (fair value determined using market value)  109 174  115 353  108 912  113 025 

50. MATURITY ANALYSIS FOR FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The following table analyses the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. 
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which 
the Group can be required to pay. The table below includes both interest and principal cash flows. The adjustment column  
represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which are not in-
cluded in the carrying amount of the financial liability on the balance sheet. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying  
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Due 
within 1 

year

Due 
within 1 

year

Due > 1 
year < 5 

years

Due > 1 
year < 5 

years
Due > 5 

years
Due > 5 

years
Adjust-

ment
Adjust-

ment

Total 
book 
value

Total 
book 
value

In CHF’000 
 

2 013 2 012 2 013 2 012 2 013 2 012 2 013 2 012 2 013 2 012

Bond  3 300  3 300  116 600  119 900 – –  -10 726  -14 288  109 174  108 912 
Long term bank loans  705  1 621  15 157  88 111 – –  -1 600  -3 988  14 262  85 744 
Long term loans – third parties – – – – – – – – – –
Short term financial debt  59 257  74 083 – – – – – –  59 257  74 083 
Trade accounts payable  37 729  40 073 – – – – – –  37 729  40 073 
Other payables  11 603  10 655 – – – – – –  11 603  10 655 

             
Total  112 594  129 732  131 757  208 011 – –  -12 326  -18 276  232 025  319 467 

The Group has a strong cash position and credit facilities sufficient to provide for these payments.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013
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51. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS 

Foreign currency 
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposure to exchange rate fluctuations 
arises. Exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilizing derivative instruments.

The Group is mainly exposed to the USD and the EUR. The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% (2012: 10%) 
increase and decrease to the USD and a 5% (2012: 5%) increase or decrease to the EUR compared to the presentation cur-
rency. The sensitivity rate used approximates the fluctuation considered by management when performing risk analysis. The 
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at 
the period end for a here above mentioned change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as 
well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency 
of the lender or the borrower. A positive number indicates an increase in post-tax profit where the foreign currency strengthens 
against the relevant currency.

USD EUR
In CHF’000 2 013 2 012 2 013 2 012

Post-tax net income
- Increase  6 901  4 638  3 767  3 385 
- Decrease  -6 901  -4 638  -3 767  -3 385 

Comprehensive income (post-tax effect)
- Increase  9 390  9 676  1 063  1 044 
- Decrease  -9 390  -9 676  -1 063  -1 044 

Interest rates
The sensitivity analysis below  have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for financial instruments at the 
balance sheet date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of financial year and held constant throughout the 
reporting period in the case of financial instruments that have floating rates. The following rates have been selected in order 
to report the sensitivity analysis corresponding to the treasury which represent management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in interest rates:
-	 USD: increase of 150 basis points and decrease of 50 basis points (2012: 150 basis points increase or 40 decrease)
-	 EUR: increase of 150 basis points and decrease of 50 basis points (2012: 150 basis points increase or 50 decrease)
-	 CHF: increase of 100 basis points and decrease of 20 basis points (2012: 100 basis points increase or 25 decrease)

If interest rates had been higher/lower on the above mentioned possible change in interest rates and all other variables were 
held constant, the Group’s:
-	 post-tax profit for the year ended December 31, 2013 would increase by kCHF 366 and decrease by kCHF 121 

(2012: decrease by kCHF 346 /increase by kCHF 100). This is mainly due to the interest rate exposure on cash balances.
-	 other comprehensive income would increase by kCHF 426 and decrease by kCHF 140  (2012: increase by kCHF 388 / 

decrease by 101) . The other comprehensive income impact is mainly  due to the signature of an interest rate swap qualifying 
for cash-flow hedge accounting. 

Equity prices
The Group is not materially exposed to any equity price fluctuation.
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52. COLLATERAL RECEIVED AND GIVEN

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Guarantee in favor of third parties  23 355  27 391 

53. RISK CONCENTRATION 

At December 31, 2013 and 2012, no financial asset exposure was more than 10% of the financial assets,  with the exception 
of cash balances deposited within a high rated bank.

54. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - UNREPRESENTATIVE RISK EXPOSURE AT REPORTING DATE

The quantative data required for IFRS 7 disclosures encompassing market, credit and liquidity risk for the year ended  
31 December 2013 was representative of the Group risk profile at that date and is determined by Group management to be 
representative for future periods. 

55. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s capital management aims to maintain a sound capital base to support the continued development of its business. 
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

The Board of Directors seeks to maintain a prudent balance between different components of the Group’s capital. The Group 
management monitors capital on the basis of operating cash flow as a percentage of net financial debt. Net financial debt is 
defined as current and non-current financial liabilities less liquid assets.

The operating cash flow-to-net financial debt ratio as at 31 December 2013 was 146.7% (2012: 69.6%).

56. PRINCIPAL CURRENCY TRANSLATION RATES

Year end rates  
used for the consolidated  
balance sheets

Average rates  
used for the consolidated 
income  
and cash flow statements

2 013 2 012 2 013 2 012

1 USD 0.8900 0.9150 0.9268 0.9377
1 EUR 1.2250 1.2070 1.2308 1.2052
1 GBP 1.4730 1.4800 1.4495 1.4861
1 SGD 0.7040 0.7490 0.7408 0.7506
1 AUD 0.7940 0.9500 0.8970 0.9711

100 BRL 37.7000 44.7000 43.1100 48.1400
100 INR 1.4400 1.6700 1.5892 1.7567
100 SEK 13.8800 14.0600 14.2295 13.8518
100 CNY 14.7100 14.6850 15.0751 14.8619
100 JPY 0.8480 1.0630 0.9508 1.1756

57. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for issue on February 19, 2014.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013
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58. PRINCIPAL OPERATING COMPANIES

Percentage held
Company Place of incorporation Activity 2013 2012

Integrated Digital Television
Nagravision SA CH –  Cheseaux Solutions for Digital TV 100 100
NagraID SA CH –  Chaux-de-Fonds Smartcard production 100 100
Nagra France SAS FR –  Paris Solutions for Digital TV 100 100
Nagra USA, Inc. US –  Nashville Sales and support 100 100
Nagravision Asia Pte Ltd SG –  Singapore Services 100 100

SmarDTV SA CH –  Cheseaux
Conditional access modules and 
set-top-boxes 100 100

NagraStar LLC US –  Englewood Smartcards and digital TV support 50 50
Nagra Plus CH – Cheseaux Analog Pay-TV solutions 50 50

OpenTV Inc US - Delaware
Middleware for set-top-boxes and 
advertising solutions 100 100

Public Access
SkiData Group AT – Gartenau People and car access systems 100 100

Corporate

Kudelski SA CH – Cheseaux
Holding, parent  
company of the Group 100 100

These principal companies are all subsidiaries.

59. RISK ASSESSMENT DISCLOSURES REQUIRED BY SWISS LAW

REQUIRED BY SWISS LAW
Risk assessment and management is an integral part of the Kudelski Group-wide enterprise risk management. The risk man-
agement approach is structured around a global risk assessment and management and the financial risk management. Both 
are governed by policies initiated by the Board of Directors. The internal control system is based on the COSO framework with 
a dedicated internal control team in place.

Global risk management
The global risk management process led to the identification and management of security, operational, strategic, asset and 
market risks. Daily management of the global risks is performed and monitored by the executive management. Risks related 
to market dynamic include foreign exchange movements, interest rate changes and financing risks. They are described in 
more detail in section 3 of this report.

Financial Risk Management
The major financial risks consist of the accounting complexity and the control environment. Risks related to the control environ-
ment include information systems complexity, timely review of results and the robustness of the documentation of processes. 
Executive management continues to  address these risks with process documentation initiatives as well as establishment of 
process and entity level controls. Financial risk management is described in more details in Note 3.

The most critical accounting policies to address accounting complexity include revenue recognition, accounting for acquisi-
tions and strategic alliances, intangible assets and impairments, tax provisions, equity based compensation and contingen-
cies.
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As statutory auditor, we have audited the 
consolidated financial statements of Ku-
delski SA, which comprise the income 
statement, statement of comprehensive 
income, balance sheet, cash flow state-
ment, statement of changes in equity and 
notes (pages 4 to 54), for the year ended 
31 December 2013.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
The Board of Directors is responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the 
requirements of Swiss law. This respon-
sibility includes designing, implementing 
and maintaining an internal control sys-
tem relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. The Board of Directors is further 
responsible for selecting and applying 
appropriate accounting policies and 
making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opin-
ion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with 
Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Stand-
ards as well as the International Stand-
ards on Auditing. Those standards re-
quire that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance wheth-
er the consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing proce-
dures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the consoli-
dated financial statements. The proce-
dures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In mak-
ing those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers the internal control system 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control system. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of the 
accounting policies used and the rea-
sonableness of accounting estimates 
made, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements. We believe that the au-
dit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2013 give a true and fair view of 
the financial position, the results of oper-
ations and the cash flows in accordance 
with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) and comply with 
Swiss law.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
We confirm that we meet the legal re-
quirements on licensing according to 
the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and 
independence (article 728 CO and ar-
ticle 11 AOA) and that there are no cir-
cumstances incompatible with our inde-
pendence.

In accordance with article 728a para-
graph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing 
Standard 890, we confirm that an in-
ternal control system exists which has 
been designed for the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements ac-
cording to the instructions of the Board 
of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated 
financial statements submitted to you 
be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SA

Corinne Pointet	 Marc Ausoni 
Chambettaz	 Audit expert
Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Lausanne, February 19, 2014 

TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF KUDELSKI SA, CHESEAUX-SUR-LAUSANNE

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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ASSETS

In CHF'000 Notes 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Fixed assets
Financial fixed assets:
Investments 3.1  287 224  402 760 
Loans to Group companies  757 700  779 057 

Total fixed assets  1 044 924  1 181 817 

Current assets
Accounts receivable from Group companies  25 881  147 453 
Other accounts receivable and accruals 3.2  1 859  2 943 
Treasury shares 3.4 –  74 
Cash and cash equivalents 3.3  9 987  25 189 

Total current assets  37 727  175 659 

Total assets  1 082 651  1 357 476 

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

In CHF'000 Notes 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Shareholders’ equity
Share capital  537 882  536 122 
Legal reserves:
- General reserve  110 000  110 000 
- Capital contribution reserve  29 877  37 945 
- Reserve for treasury shares –  290 
Retained earnings  260 391  283 976 
Net income  -33 872  -21 186 

Total shareholders’ equity 3.4  904 278  947 147 

Long-term liabilities
Loans from Group companies –  27 276 
Bonds 3.5  110 000  110 000 
Bank, long term borrowings 3.6 –  70 000 

Total long-term liabilities  110 000  207 276 

Current liabilities
Short-term loans from Group companies  34 325  170 596 
Bank, short term borrowings 3.6  30 000  30 000 
Other liabilities and accruals  1 651  2 457 
Bank overdraft  2 397 –

Total current liabilities  68 373  203 053 

Total liabilities  178 373  410 329 

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities  1 082 651  1 357 476 

BALANCE SHEETS AT DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012
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INCOME STATEMENTS AND PROPOSAL  
FOR APPROPRIATION OF AVAILABLE EARNINGS  
FOR THE YEAR 2013

INCOME STATEMENTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

In CHF'000 Notes 2013 2012

Royalty income and other –  2 
Financial income 4.1  96 892  46 272 
Loss on sale of investments 4.2 –  -27 883 
Administrative and other expenses 4.3  -4 588  -4 996 
Financial expenses and exchange result 4.4  -7 809  -7 936 
Impairment of financial fixed assets 4.5  -118 367  -26 613 

(loss)/Income before tax  -33 872  -21 154 

Income tax –  -32 

Net (loss)/income  -33 872  -21 186 

PROPOSAL FOR APPROPRIATION OF AVAILABLE EARNINGS FOR THE YEAR 2013

In CHF'000

Capital 
contribu-

tion 
 reserve

Retained 
 earnings

Balance brought forward from previous year  29 877  260 101 
Decrease of treasury shares reserve –  290 
Net result –  -33 872 

Total available earnings  29 877  226 519 

Proposal of the Board of Directors:
Ordinary distribution:
- CHF 0.30 on 49'158'230* bearer shares (of which CHF 0.20 out of capital contribution reserve 
   and CHF 0.10 out of retained earnings)  -9 832  -4 916 
- CHF 0.03 on 46'300'000 registered shares (of which CHF 0.02 out of capital contribution reserve 
   and CHF 0.01 out of retained earnings)  -926  -463 

Balance to be carried forward  19 119  221 140 

* �This figure represents the number of bearer shares which are dividend bearing as of December 31, 2013 and may fluctuate 
upon exercise of options, conversion rights, issuance of additional share capital for the employees and for the Employee 
Share Program by utilization of the conditional share capital. 
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1. GENERAL COMMENTS

Kudelski SA is the ultimate holding 
company of the Kudelski Group, which 
comprises subsidiaries and associated 
companies.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION
The statutory financial statements of 
Kudelski SA are prepared in accord-
ance with the requirements of the Swiss 
Code of Obligations applicable prior to 
the changes introduced on January 1, 
2013, in accordance with the transitional 
provisions of the new accounting law. 
These financial statements were pre-
pared under the historical cost conven-
tion and on an accrual basis.

FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS 
Investments and loans to Group com-
panies are accounted for at acquisition 
cost less adjustment for impairment of 
value.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash 
at bank and short-term deposits. Cash 
at bank consists of all funds in current  
accounts available within 48 hours. 
Short-term deposits generally include 
bank deposits and fixed term invest-
ments whose maturities are of three 
months or less from the transaction 
date.

EXCHANGE RATE DIFFERENCES
Transactions in foreign currencies are 
accounted for in Swiss francs (CHF) at 
the exchange rate prevailing at the date 
of the transaction. Assets and liabilities 
in foreign currencies are accounted for 
at year-end rates.
Any resulting exchange differences are 
included in the respective income state-
ment caption depending upon the na-
ture of the underlying transactions; the 
aggregate unrealized exchange differ-
ence is calculated by reference to origi-
nal transaction date exchange rates and 

includes hedging transactions. Where 
this gives rise to a net loss, it is charged 
to the income statement, whilst a net 
gain is deferred.

TREASURY SHARES
Treasury shares are measured at the 
lesser of their acquisition cost and their 
stock market value. In compliance with 
Article 659 a para 2 of the Swiss Code 
of Obligations, the company allocated 
a total corresponding to the acquisition 
value of treasury shares to a separate 
reserve for shares held by the company 
and its affiliates.

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

3. NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEETS

3.1 INVESTMENTS

Percentage held
Company Location Activity Share capital 2013 2012

Nagravision SA CH – Cheseaux Solutions for Digital TV kCHF 12 000 100 100
Lysis SA CH – Cheseaux No activity kCHF 100 M 100
Nagravision Iberica SL ES – Madrid Sales and support Digital TV kEUR 3 100 100
Nagra France SAS FR – Paris Solutions for Digital TV kEUR 32 833 100 100
Nagra Kudelski (GB) Ltd UK – St. Albans No activity kGBP 1 L 100
Nagra Media Germany GmbH DE –  Ismaning Services kEUR 25 100 100
Nagra USA, Inc. US – Nashville Sales and support kUSD 10 100 100
SkiData AG AU - Salzburg Physical access kEUR 3 634 100 100
Nagra Plus CH – Cheseaux Analog Pay-TV solutions kCHF 100 50 50

NagraID SA
CH – La Chaux-de-
Fonds Smart card production kCHF 4 000 100 100

SmarDTV SA CH –  Cheseaux
Conditional access modules and 
set-top-boxes kCHF 1 000 100 100

Kud SA LU – Luxembourg Finance kCHF 63 531 100 100
Leman Consulting SA CH – Nyon Intellectual property consulting kCHF 100 100 100
Nagravision Asia Pte Ltd SG – Singapore Services kSGD 100 100 100
Nagravision Shanghaï Technical 
Services CN –  Shanghaï

Research & development and software 
integration KCNY 100 100 100

Nagra Media UK Ltd UK –  London Research & development KGBP 1 000 100 100
TESC Test Solution  
Center GmbH DE –  Munich Software integration kEUR 25 M 100
Nagravision Italy Srl IT –  Bolzano Sales and support kEUR 10 100 100
Nagra Travel Sàrl CH – Cheseaux Travel agency kCHF 50 100 100

NagraID Security SA
CH – La Chaux-de-
Fonds Display cards kCHF 100 50 50

Nagravision India Pvt Ltd IN – Bangalore Research & development kINR 100 100 100

Acetel Co Ltd SK –  Séoul
Digital broadcasting  
solution provider kKRW 1 460 17 17

Nagra Media Private Limited IN - Mumbai Sales and support kINR 100 100 100
Nagra Media Korea LLC KR - Anyang Sales and support kKRW 200 000 100 100
Nagra Media Brasil LTDA BR - São Paulo Sales and support kBRL 553 100 100
Nagravision (Beijing) Trading Co., Ltd CN - Beijing Sales kCNY 5 000 100 100
OpenTV Holdings BV (Netherlands) NL - Amsterdam Holding kUSD 5 270 100 100
OpenTV UK Ltd UK –  London No activity kGBP 100 L 100
OpenTV Netherlands B.V. NL - Amsterdam Sales and support kEUR 18 100 100
Nagra Media Japan K.K. JP - Tokyo Sales and support kJPY 10 000 100 100

M = merged company

L= liquidated company
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3.2 OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES  AND ACCRUALS

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Prepaid expenses  1 852  2 788 
Withholding tax  6  150 
Other accounts receivable  1  5 

 1 859  2 943 

Prepaid expenses mainly include the difference between nominal value and net proceeds less issuance cost of the bond (note 
3.5) for kCHF 826 (2012: kCHF 1 088) and transaction costs relating to the CHF 145 million credit facility agreement (note 3.6) 
for kCHF 945 (2012: kCHF 1 701). These amounts are allocated against income statement over the periods of the borrowings.

3.3 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Cash at bank and in hand  9 987  25 189 

 9 987  25 189 

3.4 CHANGE IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

In CHF'000 Share capital General reserve

Capital 
contribu-

tion 
reserve

Reserve 
for 

treasury 
shares

Available  
earnings

Total  
Sharehold-

ers'  
equity

As of December 31, 2011  533 798  45 349  43 304  326  348 591  971 368 

General reserve allocation  64 651  -64 651 –
Dividend  -5 359  -5 359 
Share capital increase  2 324  2 324 
Release of reserve for treasury shares  -36  36 –
Net Income  -21 186  -21 186 

As of December 31, 2012  536 122  110 000  37 945  290  262 790  947 147 

Dividend  -8 068  -2 689  -10 757 
Share capital increase  1 760  1 760 
Release of reserve for treasury shares  -290  290 –
Net Income  -33 872  -33 872 

As of December 31, 2013  537 882  110 000  29 877 –  226 519  904 278 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

TREASURY SHARES 

Number of  
bearer 
shares

Reserve 
for 

treasury 
shares

CHF '000
As of December 31, 2011  11 168  -326 

Treasury shares granted to employees  -1 250  36 

As of December 31, 2012  9 918  -290 

Treasury shares granted to employees  -1 250  37 
Sale of Treasury shares  -8 668  253 

As of December 31, 2013 – –

Reserve for treasury shares corresponds to the purchase consideration for the treasury shares purchased by Kudelski SA 
and its affiliates.
During 2013, 8 668 treasury shares were sold with an average sale price of CHF 13.80. As of December 31, 2012, 8 668 
treasury shares were owned by Kudelski SA and 1 250 by affiliated companies for a purchase cost of kCHF 253 and kCHF 
37 respectively. 
The value for treasury shares presented under current assets as of December 31, 2013 equals to CHF 0 and as of December 
31, 2012 correspond to the purchase consideration of kCHF 253 less impairment of kCHF 179.

COMPOSITION OF SHARE CAPITAL  

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

49'158'230 / 48'982'155 bearer shares, at CHF 10 each  491 582  489 822 
46'300'000 registered shares, at CHF 1 each  46 300  46 300 

 537 882  536 122 

The Registered Shares are neither listed nor traded on any stock exchange. The Bearer Shares have been listed on the main 
market of the SIX since 2 August 1999 (ticker: KUD, security number: 1 226 836; ISIN CH0012268360).

CONDITIONAL SHARE CAPITAL (ARTICLE 6 OF ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION)

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Conditional share capital as of January 1  105 316  107 639 
Employee share purchase plan  -79  -337 
Shares allotted to employees  -1 682  -1 986 

Conditional share capital at December 31  103 555  105 316 

Of which may be utilized as of December 31 for:
- Convertible bonds:
   10'000'000 bearer shares, at CHF 10 each  100 000  100 000 
- Options or share subscriptions to employees:
   355'526 / 531'601 bearer shares, at CHF 10 each  3 555  5 316 

 103 555  105 316 
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AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL (ARTICLE 7 OF ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION)

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

3'768'164 bearer shares, at CHF 10 each  37 682  37 682 
3'200'000 registered shares, at CHF 1 each  3 200  3 200 

Authorized share capital as of  December 31  40 882  40 882 

The Board of Directors is authorized to increase the share capital in one or more stages until May 15, 2014, for the purpose of 
acquiring companies or parts of companies.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS 

Voting rights Shareholdings
31.12.2013 31.12.2012 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Kudelski family pool 63% 57% 35% 24%

3.5 BOND

On June 16, 2011 Kudelski SA issued a CHF 110 million bond with a subscription price of 100.284%, bearing an interest rate 
of 3% and maturing on December 16, 2016 with denominations of CHF 5 000 and multiples thereof. 

The bond is measured at its nominal value. The initial difference between nominal value and net proceeds less issuance costs 
amounting to kCHF 1 474 is considered as a prepaid expense and allocated against the income statement over the period of 
the bond.

3.6 BANK , LONG TERM BORROWINGS

In 2012, the Group obtained a committed long term syndicated credit facility until March 2015 of CHF 145 million. As of De-
cember 31, 2013 the Group has drawn CHF 30 million (2012: CHF 100 million) of which CHF 0 (2012: CHF 70 million)  are 
classified as long term while CHF 30 million (2012: CHF 30 million) are classified as short term in the balance sheet.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

4. NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENTS

4.1 FINANCIAL INCOME 

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Dividends received from Group subsidiaries  91 054  40 149 
Interest income third parties  120  346 
Interest on loans to Group subsidiaries  5 663  5 777 
Other financial income  55 –

 96 892  46 272 

Other financial income relates to the gain on sales of treasury shares.

4.2 GAIN/(LOSS) ON SALE OF INVESTMENTS

The 2012 loss relates to the sale of Abilis Systems Sàrl, Plan-les-Ouates.

4.3 ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES  

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Administrative expenses  -3 076  -3 309 
Taxes other than income tax  -1 512  -1 687 

 -4 588  -4 996 

4.4 FINANCIAL EXPENSES AND EXCHANGE RESULTS 

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Net currency exchange result  -1 771  -1 919 
Interest on loans from Group subsidiaries  -51  -1 182 
Interest expenses and bank charges  -5 987  -4 835 

 -7 809  -7 936 

4.5 IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL FIXED ASSETS

In CHF'000 2013 2012

Change in provision on Group investments and loans  -118 367  -26 613 

 -118 367  -26 613 
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5. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In CHF'000 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Guarantee commitments
Commitment in favor of third parties  1 171  1 489 

 1 171  1 489 

Other commitments
Penalty risk for non-completion of contracts p.m. p.m.
Subordinated loans in favor of Group companies p.m. p.m.
Support letters and guarantees signed in favor of Group companies p.m. p.m.
Jointly responsible for VAT liabilities of Swiss subsidiaries  (VAT Group) p.m. p.m.

6. BOARD AND EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION DISCLOSURES

The disclosures required by article 663b bis of Swiss Code of Obligations on Board and Executive compensation are shown 
in the Kudelski Group consolidated financial statements. 

7. RISK ASSESSMENT DISCLOSURES

Kudelski SA, as the ultimate parent company of the Kudelski Group, is fully integrated into the Group-wide internal risk as-
sessment process. This group risk assessment process also addresses the nature and scope of business activities and the 
specific risks of Kudelski SA. Disclosure of the Group-wide risk assessment procedures are described in note 59 to the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.
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TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF KUDELSKI SA, CHESEAUX-SUR-LAUSANNE

As statutory auditor, we have audited the 
financial statements of Kudelski SA, which 
comprise the balance sheet, income 
statement and notes (pages 56 to 64), for 
the year ended 31 December 2013.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
The Board of Directors is responsible 
for the preparation of the financial state-
ments in accordance with the require-
ments of Swiss law and the company’s 
articles of incorporation. This respon-
sibility includes designing, implement-
ing and maintaining an internal control 
system relevant to the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. The Board of Directors is 
further responsible for selecting and ap-
plying appropriate accounting policies 
and making accounting estimates that 
are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opin-
ion on these financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss 
Auditing Standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement. 
An audit involves performing proce-
dures to obtain audit evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, in-
cluding the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or er-

ror. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers the internal control 
system relevant to the entity’s prepara-
tion of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are ap-
propriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control system. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriate-
ness of the accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
comply with Swiss law and the compa-
ny’s articles of incorporation.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS
We confirm that we meet the legal re-
quirements on licensing according to 
the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and 
independence (article 728 CO and ar-
ticle 11 AOA) and that there are no cir-
cumstances incompatible with our inde-
pendence.

In accordance with article 728a para-
graph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing 
Standard 890, we confirm that an in-
ternal control system exists which has 
been designed for the preparation of 

REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR ON THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

financial statements according to the 
instructions of the Board of Directors.

We further confirm that the proposed 
appropriation of available earnings 
comply with Swiss law and the com-
pany’s articles of incorporation. We rec-
ommend that the financial statements 
submitted to you be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers SA

Corinne Pointet	 Marc Ausoni 
Chambettaz	 Audit expert
Audit expert
Auditor in charge

Lausanne, February 19, 2014
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